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                   OPENING REMARKS

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  If I could call to order

the meeting of the National Civil Aviation Review

Commission?  Today the National Civil Aviation Review

Commission will hold its second public hearing.

            Today's hearing will focus on aviation

safety, which is the second part of our charge, and we

have largely completed our work on the issues

surrounding the financing and funding of our nation's

aviation programs.

            Last month the Commission submitted its

preliminary financing report to Secretary of

Transportation Slater and Federal Aviation

Administrator Jane Garvey.  They are now in the

process of reviewing that report.  And their comments

are due back to the Commission very soon.

            That report was signed by all 21

Commission members and represents a strong consensus

on where we need to be headed.  And I am very hopeful

and confident that that report will become the basis

of legislation next year.

            The Commission has held a number of

meetings on safety beginning in August.  It is already

clear that new directions need to be taken in this

area.  And the U.S. aviation system is very safe.  And

the traveling public can take great confidence in the

industry that provides this transportation and the

Federal Aviation Administration, whose responsibility

it is to establish standards for that industry and

regulate its safety.

            However, it is also clear that the

anticipated growth in aviation coupled with the

current accident rate that the frequency of accidents

and the future of accidents in the future will become

wholly unacceptable.  The accident rate, which has

been low but flat for the past 25 years, must somehow

be reduced dramatically if people are going to retain

their confidence in the safety of air travel.

            Fortunately, a great deal of thought and

consideration have gone into the question of how to

reduce the rate.  It is also clear that all involved,

including the manufacturers of aircraft, airline

operators, pilots, mechanics, and the FAA, have

reducing the accident rate as a primary goal and are

devoting people and resources to that end.  Let me

parenthetically add that flight attendants should also

be included as part of that group who are working

towards the safety of the aviation system.

            It is also clear from our discussions that

a common strategy for accomplishing a dramatic

reduction in the accident rate is emerging.  And this

Commission will bring public attention to that

strategy.

            Frankly, from a personal perspective, it

is good for me to be back in an old stomping ground. 

I spent a few days most every week in this room

working on transportation legislation and policy for

some 21 years.  And so this room brings back a lot of

wonderful memories.

            I would like to thank Chairman Bud Shuster

of the Transportation Infrastructure Committee and

Congressman Jim Oberstar, the ranking Democrat on the

full committee, for allowing us to use this room for

our hearing today.

            As you can see, we have the availability

of sign interpreters.  And so I'd like to ask if

there's anyone who is in need of the sign interpreter.

            (No response.)

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Okay.  If not, I guess

we will just like to thank you very much for your help

and assistance here today.

            At this time, let me call on our first

witness to come before the Commission.  The first

panel is made up of:  Al Prest, the Vice President of

Operations of the Air Transport Association; Terry

Clark, Director of Flight Safety, Alaska Airlines;

David Haase, Executive Central Air Safety Chair for

the Air Line Pilots Association; and Gary Clemmer, the

Managing Director of Quality Assurance for Northwest

Airlines.

            So if I could have the first panel, who is

already here?  Who would like to start off?  Great. 

Al, if you would go ahead and proceed with your

testimony and introduce yourself?

            CAPTAIN PREST:  Well, thank you, Mr.

Chairman and good morning to both you and to the

distinguished members of the National Civil Aviation

Review Commission.  I might add it is indeed good, Mr.

Mineta, to have you back in your familiar stomping

grounds.

                     PANEL 1:  

           AIR TRANSPORTATION ASSOCIATION

            CAPTAIN PREST:  My name is Al Prest.  I am

Vice President of Operations with the Air Transport

Association.  I'm also a former airline captain for a

major airline, where I flew in both domestic and

international operations while holding various

management positions.

            Today I'd like to address the subject of

flight operations quality assurance, or FOQA.  Simply

stated, FOQA is the use of aircraft flight recorder

information for purposes other than investigating an

accident.

            Everyone in this room and certainly the

members of the Commission are familiar with the black

boxes that become familiar to all of us during all

aircraft accident investigations.  FOQA, however, does

not require an accident.  It's a program that permits

safety analysis and data-driven decisions to be made

before an accident and even before an incident.

            In-flight monitoring of normal operations

can provide enough information for an airline to

accurately assess the effectiveness of:  training

programs; flight crew operating procedures; aircraft

performance, including engines and subsystems; air

traffic control procedures; runway surface conditions;

wake turbulence; clear air turbulence; and the list

could go on and on.  And let me emphasize that's

without any damage to the airplane or without any loss

of life.

            Flight operations quality assurance is a

term first used by the Flight Safety Foundation about

five years ago.  Electronic data gathering and

analysis, however, is not new.  It's been used

effectively in the United States since about the mid

1960s.

            TWA developed a program that subsequently

permitted them to analyze literally millions of

approaches and landings using the old-fashioned foil

flight data recorders.  The program focused on

stabilized approaches.  And only the last two minutes

prior to touchdown were analyzed.

            The results were used to coordinate

changes in air traffic control procedures.  And, when

necessary, TWA utilized the information to revise

training programs and flight crew operating policies

and procedures.

            Prior to the TWA program, American

Airlines experimented with an airborne integrated data

system on the BAC-111 fleet.  In fact, I am told that

some airlines used primitive drum-type barometric

altimeter recording devices in DC-3's shortly after

World War II.

            The data gathered by these recorders were

used for operational purposes and to help develop

subsequent autopilot altitude-hold features.  You'll

hear references from time to time that flight data

recorder analysis programs originated in Europe.  A

lot of good things had their beginnings in Europe, but

FOQA was not one of them.  It started right here in

the United States.

            What happened during the past 30 years

that caused our programs to virtually stall while

airlines like British Airways, SAS, Japan Airlines,

and other U.S. non-carriers moved forward to a point

where they are now credited with being the leaders in

utilizing flight data recorder monitoring programs? 

We don't have to look very far to find the answer to

that question.

            Unlike the old foil recorders, today's

flight recorders are capable of recording several

hundred parameters during each fraction of a second. 

Recording technology has moved ahead smartly, but our

aviation laws, regulations, and enforcement practices

have remained in the Dark Ages.

            Our current system shoots the messenger if

what he delivers has the appearance of human failure. 

If there's a breakdown in human performance, then

there must be a violation.  And the hunt to fulfill

that prophecy usually begins with an FAA letter of

investigation being sent to the messenger.  The word

spreads quickly among the messengers.  And soon the

flow of critical information is reduced to a mere

fraction of what it should be.

            Now, don't get me wrong.  I wouldn't trade

the U.S. safety record for any other in the world, but

think how much better it could be if we had laws and

regulations that encouraged and protected voluntary

safety reporting, rather than being focused on

enforcement, violations, and punishment.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Captain, could I ask you

to pull the microphone a little closer up to your

mouth?  Thank you very much.

            CAPTAIN PREST:  The most significant

reason why FOQA and similar programs that depend on

voluntarily submitted safety information have

languished in the background is simply because our

regulatory process discourages their use.

            My purpose here today is to request your

support in a comprehensive effort to modernize these

regulations to protect certificate holders, which

includes pilots, dispatchers, mechanics, and the

airlines themselves, from FAA action where the source

of that violation is voluntarily submitted safety

information.

            Enforcement has its place, and FAA cannot

abandon that role.  The act requires it.  FAA is

compelled to carry out that responsibility.  But

enforcement should only occur when FAA becomes aware

of a situation through a source other than a voluntary

safety program.  In other words, the part of the

safety iceberg that's above the water line is fair

game.

            If there's an apparent deviation from a

regulation, then let the enforcement process deal with

it as it has for many, many years.  Still, the tip is

the smallest and most visible part of the iceberg. 

It's what's below the surface that sinks ships.  And

that's the part we're concerned with.

            For FOQA to survive, this industry needs

regulatory or legislative protection that ensures that

voluntary messenger is not facing certificate action. 

And that's the aviation equivalent of being shot.

            At the present time, the few FOQA programs

that are up and running are doing so on a wing and a

prayer.  A letter from former Administrator Hinson and

another from a recently retired FAA Manager of Flight

Standard Services, both pledging no enforcement

action, are the threads that hold FOQA together today. 

FAA's self-imposed target date for a FOQA rule is now

more than one year old.

            Most FOQA programs are dependent upon

letters of agreement between the pilots and their

respective management.  Some programs are in danger of

collapse because these letters have expiration dates

based on FAA's issuance of a final rule within a

specified time period.  Other programs, such as the

American Airlines Safety Action Program, are also in

jeopardy if rulemaking is not enacted quickly.

            I would like to close by reminding

everyone that this industry is a proud industry.  In

the last 20 years, the number of airline passengers

has doubled.  During the same period, the number of

fatal accidents has been reduced by more than 50

percent.  This is a significant accomplishment, but we

must do better in the next 20 years than to cut the

accident rate in half.  This is simply not good

enough.

            To do better, we need all of the safety

tools we can get.  FOQA, Aviation Safety Action

Partnerships, and similar programs are promising, but

to reach their full potential, we require regulatory

protection before we can make significant steps

forward.  Draft language already exists.  All we need

is for FAA to put that language in a formal notice of

proposed rulemaking.

            Thank you for your interest.  If there are

any questions, I can deal with that.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Great.  Thank you very

much, Captain.  We'll go ahead and have the balance of

the testimony.  And then the members of the Commission

will be able to go ahead and direct their questions.

            Mr. Clark, are you next on board?

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  Good morning, sir.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  If you would go ahead

and proceed?  We have your written statement.  And

just go ahead and proceed in your own fashion.

                   ALASKA AIRLINES

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  Gentlemen and ladies of

the Commission, I am Terry Clark, Director of Flight

Safety for Alaska Airlines.  My testimony to this

Commission today deals with improving the airline

industry's performance in the area of flight safety.

            Various people who work within the airline

industry and government are quick to point out how we

have the best record of any industry in the world. 

They comment on how we set the standard and most

everyone else looks to us as industry leaders.

            This may or may not be a factual

statement.  Every flight safety expert I know who is

genuinely interested in flight safety find these

statements irrelevant.

            The only concept which is meaningful to an

individual who dedicates her or his life to flight

safety is the concept of continual improvement.  In

other words, we will be better tomorrow than we are

today.

            Continual improvement only comes from

self-auditing and constant evaluation of an operation. 

We must determine how we are doing in order to plot a

course of improvement.  So how do we do this in the

airline industry?

            Unfortunately, in the not-too-distant

future an airliner will crash.  There will be

considerable investigation, which will gather as many

of the facts leading up to the accident as possible. 

Much effort will be expended to recover the black

boxes.  These boxes, as the Commission is aware, are

cockpit voice recorder and the flight data recorder.

            The question that begs to be asked by a

flight safety expert are:  Why do we only look for

these boxes when there is an accident?  Flight

recorder information would be of great value to a

flight safety analyst.

            The cockpit voice recorder is of limited

value as the analyst can only look at the last 30

minutes of the flight.  However, the flight data

recorder records flight parameters for a much greater

time period, normally 75 hours.  Equipment is

available to day to allow airlines to record as much

as 300 hours of data.

            At the present time in the United States,

there are four carriers that are evaluating this data

on a continual basis.  We call this flight operations

and quality assurance, or better known as FOQA.

            What are we learning from this data? 

We're learning how G loading on an aircraft affects

aircraft aging; how good a job our training department

is doing; how our aircraft fit within the air traffic

control system; what we can expect wind profiles to be

on departures and approaches on various airports; and,

of course, reliability of various mechanical systems

and parts on our aircraft, just to give a couple of

examples.

            What FOQA is proving to be is the absolute

finest safety took that a flight safety analyst can

have.  The European Community has known this for over

three decades.  We have known this in the United

States for the same amount of time.  But why haven't

we used this before?

            The answer is simple.  Current enforcement

policy and past enforcement policy of the FAA looks to

fix blame, not necessarily fix problems.

            As my colleague Al Prest stated in his

testimony, a former FAA Administrator produced a

policy letter that allowed airlines to work with

industry and regulatory bodies together to look at

this information.

            David Hinson's policy letter was a good

start.  However, for this vital safety program to be

successful, we need better guidance than a policy

letter.

            The FAA is currently on the verge of

producing a notice of proposed rulemaking concerning

FOQA.  I urge this Commission to guide the FAA with

the basic truth that by working together, we can

accomplish more than we can by working separately.

            The FOQA rule must allow airlines to

voluntarily participate in a FOQA program wherein the

airlines and the FAA work in harmony, rather than

hesitantly participate based on concern of retribution

by the FAA's use of the program as one solely to

collect data which can be used to penalize an airline

or its employees.

            It must provide protections from the media

similar to the protections afforded to airport

security issues dealing with entities that wish to do

harm to the flying public.  It must also have the same

protections that are currently in place for the

cockpit voice recorder.

            Without these protections, any initiative

which deals with FOQA will fail or, worse yet, be a

meaningless program which will ruefully be remembered

as a great idea but because the FAA's commitment to

enforcement outweighs its commitment to flight safety

and the willingness to work with the airline industry

to save lives, it just could not come to pass.

            Thank you.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Thank you, Mr. Clark.

            Next is Mr. Haase of the Air Line Pilots

Association.

             AIR LINE PILOTS ASSOCIATION

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman

and Commission members.  I'm David Haase, Executive

Central Air Safety Chairman for the Air Line Pilots

Association.  I head up our pilot volunteer safety

workforce within the association made up of

professional pilots from a number of the country's

great airlines.

            I have four topics this morning.  And with

me, staff will put up some viewgraphs just to help

lead you through the presentation.  I'd like to talk

first about safety program management in very basic

general terms.  I'd like:  to talk about some aspects

of the FAA 90-day safety review; talk about the FAA's

approach to international safety issues; and, finally,

talk about data protection.

            First with respect to safety program

management, the bottom line, the essential point is

that carriers needs to have an organized, disciplined,

formal safety/quality assurance program.

            To some extent, the larger carriers do

this.  There has been in the past this type of a

program more nearly on the maintenance side of

carriers' operations.  But we're really in the infancy

of the scientific techniques of quality assurance.

            These concepts are basic and fundamental. 

They're not required.  And, for the great part, we're

just beginning that work.  These programs allow an

operator to determine what's actually happening, how,

first off, you set the goal.

            And I think somebody once said:  How can

you possibly hit the bull's-eye if you don't know

where the target is in the first place?  The broader

goal, of course, is preventing accidents, but those

need to be broken down into smaller increments of

realistic things that could be measured.

            In order to measure, you've got to collect

the data.  You have to analyze the data, take action

based on what you learn, and go back through an

iterative process to see whether what you did actually

fixed the problem.  This is basic and fundamental to

the overall concept.

            The FAA, we believe, should require such

comprehensive, proactive safety programs of carriers. 

They are not required today except to a limited extent

on the maintenance side of the operation.

            There are a number of ways you can collect

data.  These two gentlemen who preceded me this

morning talked about FOQA programs, flight ops quality

assurance, but partnership programs so-called,

internal audit programs.  Those are other means of

collecting data, and there are still others beyond

those.  They are all part of the data collection

effort that needs to be brought together to focus the

energies.

            And these internal audit programs can be

made to cover the code-sharing partners, the

international carriers that are outside of the United

States as well.

            The other thing that's needed to make this

work is a defined management structure.  There has to

be a group of people who are knowledgeable as to how

to do these types of things.  Certainly a director of

flight safety is needed.  The position is required by

the FAA in a recent change to the rules, but there are

no defined duties of a director of safety.

            We believe the data collection and overall

safety program management should be included within

those duties.  Again, to make the whole program work,

you've got to have an organizational structure.  You

have to have a formal program.  And you need to have

the data that you can collect and analyze to work your

way through the problems.

            Next I'd like to talk briefly about the

FAA's 90-day safety review.  The purpose of that, as

you probably recall, was to determine how the FAA

could better improve its surveillance and oversight of

both flight operations and maintenance.  And the

concern was:  How could the FAA improve in view of

resource limitations and funding limitations?  The

report recommendations indicated a need for better

management of their programs.

            The association looked at this.  And we

recommended shared programs.  We thought that the FAA

could supplement their inspector workforce by using

industry resources, by working together.  We see it

from the standpoint of a shared responsibility.

            For example, in a well-established carrier

with a formal, established quality assurance program

run internally by the carrier, the FAA could reduce

their oversight of that particular carrier with their

workforce.

            On the other hand, with a newly

established carrier or one that doesn't have a formal

program internally established for quality assurance

and safety management, the FAA could increase their

workforce level at those carriers to make sure that

there was adequate oversight.

            Remember that data collection is part of

this effort.  Again, FOQA programs, partnership

programs are needed so that the FAA can make a

judgment as to whether or not this type of action

would be feasible in the case of a particular carrier.

            Next, talking about the FAA's

international role, I need to talk just a little bit

about our association and what has transpired over the

last few years.  The association now has a global

strategy.

            With the advent of international code

sharing, our membership and our leadership became

concerned.  And, to be sure, there were a number of

labor issues there and contractual issues that

concerned us greatly.

            But there were also a number of safety

issues that gave us great concern because we were

aware of the fact that safety standards in other

countries than the United States in some cases are

some cases are much less demanding than those of the

United States.  We were concerned about safety,

finding a neutral point that would result in a lesser

level of safety, a lowering of the regulatory

standards regarding safety.

            As a result of that, the association

formed its global strategy designed to level the

playing field and make sure that we were seeking the

highest level of safety on an international basis.

            As an example, flight-time duty-time

regulations, which govern the rest a pilot has to have

to avoid fatigue, those rules are much less demanding

in other countries, some other countries, than they

are in the United States.  The effect upon the

carrier, of course, is significant from an economic

standpoint.  And we do not have a level playing field.

            We believe the FAA has significant

international responsibilities.  We believe the FAA

should lead and not follow.  It has done this in some

areas.  For instance, if you look at their technical

work with the global positioning satellite system,

there is true international leadership.  However, if

you look on the safety side, the picture is not quite

as bright.

            Let's look at some of the FAA's

international safety programs.  Harmonization of

aircraft certification rules is an example.  Those

rules were really driven by manufacturers' cost

concerns.  The program's been underway for some 14

years, and there's been substantial progress.

            We salute the program.  We think it's a

great one.  However, I would point out that it was a

reactive program, not one driven by safety concerns,

but, rather, one driven by economics.

            Another example, harmonization of

operating rules.  Not much progress here yet.  It's

just beginning, again driven primarily by cost

concerns and not by safety.

            The FAA's International Aviation Safety

Assessment Program, that was driven by an accident,

the Avianca accident up in New York City a few years

ago, and the resulting public concerns.  It was,

again, a reactive program.  It's an excellent program. 

The FAA has done a fine job with it.  But I would just

like to point out again that it was reactive.

            Even on the point of ICAO, they have

reacted and have an international assessment program

now that it was driven by the FAA's efforts to put

together an assessment program of the carriers flying

into the United States by the FAA.

            We believe that the agency needs to take

a proactive global approach to safety.  They need to

look at their overall internal operations and figure

out:  What is it that they can best do to influence

the world community on safety and make magnitude

improvements?

            Some examples of individual things that

they might do:  controlled flight into terrain. 

There's more participation needed by the FAA.  They

were initially involved in the technical efforts with

Flight Safety Foundation and ICAO, but now we're down

to the Implementation Task Force, and there's no FAA

participation.

            TCAS, collision avoidance systems.  In the

United States today, they're not required on freighter

aircraft.  And, yet, we're going to find toward the

end of this year both in Europe and in India that TCAS

will be required on freighter aircraft.

            Air carrier airport and facilities

assessments.  The FAA we don't feel is doing the job

that they ought to to make sure that U.S. carriers

fulfill their obligation to conduct operator

assessments of destination airports and facilities.

            Obviously the United States cannot tell

other countries how to set up their airports and

facilities.  But we can make sure that U.S. carriers

have assessed those facilities and appropriate

limitations on their operations are in place.

            Again, the important thing here is for the

agency to look at how they can be proactive on the

safety side for the long haul, for the benefit of the

overall safety of air carrier operations.

            Finally, I'd like to talk to safety data

and information programs and protection.  If you

remember, at the beginning of my presentation, I

talked about safety and quality assurance programs. 

The bedrock of that was data collection.  You can't

know how you're doing unless you have the data to show

what's going on.

            These pieces of information provide the

early warning cues to help us prevent accidents.  They

have the full support of pilots.  FOQA and partnership

programs are part of those.  They are non-punitive,

and the data needs to be protected.  Our concern is if

punitive programs remain in place, then we won't have

significant data collection that we need.  We need to

get over that hump.

            Cockpit voice recorders.  For us, flight

crew privacy is a major concern.  They should be used

for accident investigation purposes only.  And they do

now have as a result of some of the work that we've

done in the past special protection from public

disclosure.

            We would urge that no action be taken

which would lessen the effectiveness of the current

CVR rule.  In fact, we would like to see for flight

recorder, flight operations quality assurance,

partnership programs, and other data collection

efforts the same type of protection given to those

programs' data as is presently being given to cockpit

voice recorder data.

            Data collection is fundamental for

tracking the progress toward safety goals.  We need to

make sure that that flow of data not only continues

but improves.

            I thank you very much for your attention. 

And I'll be pleased to respond to questions at the

appropriate time.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Captain Haase, thank you

very, very much.

            Let me now call on Mr. Gary Clemmer,

Managing Director of Quality Assurance at Northwest

Airlines.

                 NORTHWEST AIRLINES

            MR. CLEMMER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman

and chairpersons.

            I'd like to shift the focus somewhat from

the gentleman to my left dealing with part or aircraft

part acceptability in the industry.  It's a subject

that's very near and dear to me and to my airline.

            Let me give you a little background, first

of all.  Air carriers have depended upon the

manufacturers' part lists for reference and purchase

and installation of aircraft parts.  This is a widely

accepted practice, and it's reinforced by ATA Spec.

100, and I quote, "The Illustrated Parts Catalog, IPC,

is intended for the use in identification and

requisitioning of replaceable aircraft parts and

units."

            Most airlines employ the use of acceptable

parts lists.  It's one method for part requisitioning,

receiving, stocking, installation.  These are parts

listed by vendor number or supplier code in the

manufacturer's part catalog not married under the

manufacturer's part number.

            Under current federal aviation regulations

and FAA directives, procurements of parts and the

manufacturer parts lists are not approved unless they

have acceptable approval of classifications.

            Those classifications are PMA, TOS, drop

ship authorities, technical assist letters, quality

surveillance by the manufacturer.  It goes on and on. 

There are some 11 different items.

            Obviously the industry suffered from

unscrupulous persons dealing in aircraft parts.  And

it's attracted considerable notoriety.  The FAA has

stepped up enforcement for parts certification rules.

            Additionally, product liability issues

have arisen with both manufacturers and air carriers. 

Airline suppliers and repair stations are taking

enforcement action very seriously and making concerted

efforts to bring all aircraft parts to FAA-approved

status.

            Most major air carriers are taking actions

to protect themselves by assuring they obtain and use

FAA-approved parts, which includes parts exchanged

between carriers.  Today proper certification is

definitely a must in order to do business.

            However, there seems to be a lack of clear

understanding of parts certification.  That's coupled

with seemingly inconsistent rules governing the parts

certification process and leaving the industry to

self-regulate without real consensus.

            The question posed today in a more

definitive way:  Should the primary burden of

reproducing airworthy parts shift from the

operator/buyer, where it is today, to the manufacturer

and the FAA, who has oversight authority?

            While the adage "Buyer Beware" is always

with us, it doesn't mean the practical precautions

cannot be taken to give a reasonable assurance that

parts procured by the air carrier are airworthy and

meet installation requirements for FAA-type certified

products.

            Our system seems to be confused with

definitions, numerous rules and orders that lend

themselves to individual interpretations by a wide

variety of persons not always knowledgeable in

aviation practices.  In fact, many manufacturers of

aircraft parts have little knowledge of aviation

regulatory requirements.

            In this case, there is a de facto

responsibility by the operator, the air carrier to

assure airworthiness, and give oversight for quality

manufacturing.  The burden has been assumed by the air

carriers to protect themselves in order to provide

safe and reliable aircraft for the flying public.

            Today we maintain a position that the FAA

promote rulemaking that is more definitive in

directing the burden of quality upon manufacture. 

Moreover, the FAA must have oversight responsibilities

and adequate resources.

            There are two concepts that really need to

be addressed in this particular area of concern. 

Require certification approval at the manufacturer

level for all aircraft parts except standard and

commercial parts and require a universal airworthiness

certification form accepted domestically and

internationally.

            Issues that promote the above-mentioned

concepts that I speak of are:  definition of airworthy

and approved.  They're not synonymous.  For instance,

the airworthy part in 8130 talks about conforms to

type certificate requirements.  It talks about must be

in condition for sale operation.

            Approved part under FAA Order 8120 talks

about meeting 11 different criteria, one of 11

different criteria.  We speak of airworthy parts. 

However, only approved parts are addressed in the part

certification process.

            FAA oversight for manufacturers of

aviation parts accept standard and commercial parts. 

Although a large undertaking, I believe it can be

managed by the FAA through a more practical and

efficient manner with minimal resources by increased

utilization and recognition of delegated authority. 

Already in place through FAR 183 is what they classify

as DMIRs, DARs, ODARs.  There's even a proposed

organizational delegation authority.

            Recognition of International Standards

Organizations, the ISO-9000.  Of particular note, in

1993, the DOD and NASA began accepting ISO

registration for quality standards.  We might consider

issuing manufacturing approvals for manufacturing

facilities versus approval for piece parts.

            They use this procedure, and it works

quite well in Europe.  We need the standardized parts

documentation, which requires international agreements

and recognition.

            Currently there are numerous forms that we

use in order to accept parts into the air carrier. 

There's the FAA Form 8130-3.  There's the FAA Form

337.  There's the JAA Form One.  There's a Transport

Canada 24-0078.  The list goes on and on.

            In summary, the FAA assumes that

responsibility for certification, primarily for the

manufacturer's level, would only have been more

complete in protective policy for processing of

aircraft parts that meet quality standards.

            It could be coupled with the air carrier's

own responsibilities for parts awareness under its

operating certificate.  And it would not circumvent

the use of the suspected unapproved parts office for

reporting unapproved parts that escape normal quality

standards.  It's our belief that together the air

carriers and the FAA would work to rid the industry of

the problem.

            Thank you.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Thank you very much, Mr.

Clemmer.

            First of all, let me ask just a general

question, if I might.  We have had considerable

discussion about FAA enforcement relative to the

FOQA-type program.  And the legal argument is made

that if the FAA determines that an aircraft is not

airworthy, it would be obligated to take action on a

certificate based on the FOQA data.

            I'm wondering if members of the panel

could comment on this legal issue and how we might see

our way clear of this thicket so that these programs

can be put into place.  Captain Prest?

            CAPTAIN PREST:  I'd like to take a cut at

that, if I may, sir.  We certainly have no argument

with FAA's enforcement role.  We think the act is

clear, and we think that if there is a violation that

occurs, then, in fact, the FAA should pursue that with

as much enthusiasm as necessary.

            What we are concerned about with FOQA and

similar rules is that part of the information stream,

the information that is available through those

programs that is otherwise unavailable to anyone.  It

just plain goes undetected.  And we need to bring that

information forward.  We need to encourage people to

bring that information forward in the interest of

moving toward the zero accident goal.  That's an

admirable goal.  Whether we ever get there or not is

not necessarily relevant, but we have to strive for

that.

            Administrator Hinson said on many

occasions, "You can't regulate your way to that goal. 

You can't regulate your way to zero accidents." 

Increased inspector workforces will still only produce

the tip of the iceberg.  And we have to somehow cull

out the real safety data that is below the water line,

as I mentioned earlier.

            Now, the answer to all of that is simply

regulation in our opinion.  The regulation needs to be

changed so that FAA does not walk onto an air

carrier's property and say, "We want all of your FOQA

data because somewhere in there we think there's a

violation.  And we need to pursue that."

            If that sounds cynical, that comes from a

long experience in this industry.  And we have

occurrences that reflect that type of attitude.  If it

comes to FAA's attention in a normal manner through

air traffic control or through an inspection, then it

should be enforceable, but we do need rulemaking

protection, in our opinion, to separate the

voluntarily submitted safety data from that data

that's available elsewhere.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Any other comments from

the --

            MR. SMITH:  Yes, sir, Mr. Chairman.  Al,

could you give us a very quick overview of safety data

that are not violation types that you're looking for

that would be germane to getting below that line that

you're trying to do?

            CAPTAIN PREST:  Well, there are countless

examples.  And I'm having a hard time finding one that

would make sense.  There are two elements to any type

of safety program, at least two elements.  One would

be the electronically gathered data that tells us what

the airplane does.  And the other is why it does that. 

And we need the pilot input for that portion of it.

            We could look on a flight data recorder

and see that there's been an excessive air speed at a

given particular point in a flight regime.  We need to

know why that occurred, and we'd like to be able to

sit down and talk to the pilot and say, "What were the

events surrounding this particular spike that occurred

on a flight data recorder?"  And we'd like to do that

in the name of safety, not in the name of a violation,

because that particular speed was exceeded.

            Now, if that occurs, if a speed, an

excessive speed, occurs, let's say, in a terminal

environment, where spacing is an issue and where

safety is compromised and where the air traffic

controller acknowledges that a loss of separation has

occurred, then submitted the necessary paperwork --

paperwork is not necessarily a part of this, but that,

then, becomes fair game for violation in our opinion.

            MR. SMITH:  Amazing.

            SENATOR PRESSLER:  Mr. Chairman?

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Senator Pressler?

            SENATOR PRESSLER:  Yes.  Let me ask a

question about people who work in this safety area. 

It's so hard in the airlines to express the reality of

the zero accident goal.

            Now, comparing industries, in cars, we

lose about 35 or 40 thousand people a year in tragic

deaths.  And we have the knowledge with maybe a

50-mile-an-hour speed limit, stringent steps on

alcohol, stringent steps on relicensing drivers.

            The experts tell us that we could save

10,000 people a year in this country, 10,000 lives,

with known technology, but we don't do it because we

make a trade-off.  We like the freedom of the car.

            Yet, we lose less than 1,000 people a year

usually in plane accidents.  And we have all of this

rhetoric about a zero accident goal.  But, in reality,

planners and administrators have got to accept the

fact that there are going to be some accidents.  There

are some errors.

            Are we heading towards really handcuffing

the airline industry with the continued rhetoric of

the zero accident goal, of course, which everybody has

to be for?  If the Administrator of the FAA went on

the Larry King Show and said anything else, he would

be thrown out of office.

            We do consciously or subconsciously make

that decision in cars.  We've got the known

technology.  The experts tell us we could either save

10 or 15 thousand lives a year in automobiles if we

really decided to get tough.

            But we seem to have a different standard

for the airlines.  Maybe that's good.  I don't know. 

You all work in safety.  Does anybody have any general

comments on that subject?

            MR. CLEMMER:  I've got some primarily

because safety usually in our industry is used to

promote areas before you -- it may not necessarily be

safety.

            For instance, if you're familiar with a

maintenance program language called MSG or MSG-3,

which is common case, there's a logic diagram that

basically runs nine different trails.  The trail which

you use three and eight is safety, and everything else

is not safety.

            The point I'm trying to get to is that

there are claims.  Depending on where you want to go

with a particular issue, there are claims of safety,

safety, and safety.  But in general, as far as the

aircraft is concerned, there is a certain amount of

inherent reliability that is built into the aircraft

above the line of safety.

            And from a maintenance standpoint, you

never really get to the level where you get below that

safety margin.  You're always somewhere in the

categories of decreased inherent reliability.

            Like I said, I have to tell you I almost

get tired of people using the word "safety" because in

a lot of cases, it's not a safety issue.  It's

something that increases or decreases the reliability

of the aircraft.  Of course, that's my opinion, but

you asked the question.

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  Senator, if I might

respond to that from perhaps a different perspective? 

When there is our large loss of life in a single

incident, it draws much more public attention than if

one person or two people perhaps are lost in an

automobile accident, both equally tragic from the

individual standpoint, but from the public perception

standpoint very different.

            Secondly, from the standpoint of an

airline passenger as compared to someone driving or

riding in their car, when they're in their automobile,

they feel like they're in control.  They have a choice

over their own destiny.

            When they walk into an airplane,

commercial airliner, they put their trust and faith in

someone else to get them there safely.  Perhaps those

two aspects together, the large loss of life, the fact

that they're really in someone else's hands, have an

influence on the public perception.  And maybe that's

why the public demands that we try to improve.

            MR. LEXTON:  Mr. Chairman?

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Ms. O'Cleireacain first

and then Mr. Lexton.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Mr. Haase, I have a

couple of questions related to your comments here. 

You said that you think it would be desirable for the

FAA to require safety management programs at all

airlines.  Is that correct?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  That's correct.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  And many generally do

not have them yet?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  Not at this point in time. 

They're working in that direction, but we're not there

yet.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  But you're saying that

should be a regulatory requirement; correct?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  That's correct.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  And in a regulatory

sense, they should mandate cooperation, cooperative

programs, or they should only mandate that there be an

office with a safety manager, et cetera, or would you

mandate cooperation, cooperative programs?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  Let me clarify.  There is

a regulatory requirement today on the technical

services side that there be a quality assurance

program.  There is no such equivalent requirement on

the flight operations side for a quality assurance

program.  So that's where the regulatory aspect --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  So you simply want it

to be parallel to or identical, --

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  That's correct.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  -- the mirror image of

the maintenance kind of --

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  That's right.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  -- quality assurance? 

And if that's a shared program in most places, it will

end up being a shared program on the flight side.  Is

that --

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  That's correct.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Is that the general

inference?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  That's correct.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Okay.  So let's say we

had those sorts of programs.  I'm trying to get back

to the FAA.  I'm trying to push this to the next level

of FOQA and the problems that we keep hearing what are

basically experimental programs now, the hurdle of

getting those experimental programs into being a more

pervasive set of programs.

            Let's say that all of these airlines were

to have safety programs and many of them were to have

FOQA-type programs and then a recession hits or

airlines become in trouble and some of these airlines

become marginal, in a financial sense, they become

marginal, and they're having real financial problems. 

Do you see that that's going to affect the way of

either the importance of their safety program, the way

their safety program operates?

            Is it your experience in the past that

that has happened with operators who have come very

close to the financial line?  And does the FAA -- and

I guess the inference from the rest of my question --

so I'll just say it -- is:  Does the FAA have a reason

to be worried that if they give up an enforcement tool

or that final hatchet or arrow or whatever you want to

call it in their quiver, that in bad times that's

going to come back and hit them?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  Let me take that in two

separate parts, the first part being whether or not

carriers might cut back on programs like that in times

of economic distress.  Certainly I think that's

possible.

            I guess perhaps that would be one of the

reasons that I would like to see --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  That's how you want to

mandate it; right?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  -- a regulatory

requirement.  On the other hand, I think a lot of

people in the airline business recognize the severe

problems a number of carriers have had subsequent to

having an accident and the major impact that it has

had upon their airlines.

            If you look at risk management or quality

assurance programs, the basic reason for those is to

really help the company.  It's to prevent loss.  It's

to prevent the economic hardship.  There isn't a full

appreciation of that perspective, but that's really

what it does.

            Now, the second part, I'm not exactly sure

how to respond to that.

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  I'd like to --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Sure.

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  -- respond to the second

half of your question.  Currently air carriers have an

advisory circular that they follow to voluntarily

submit mistakes or safety problems that surface at the

airline.  It's called AC 120-56, air carrier voluntary

disclosure procedures.

            In about the fourth paragraph of that, it

talks about protections that are afforded to the air

carrier.  However, it left out three words.  The three

words that it left out are protections afforded to the

air carriers "and its employees."

            An air carrier will voluntarily submit a

safety problem or an inadvertent breaking of a

regulation that they find in their own procedures. 

And they'll talk to the FAA at that point and say,

"Look, we found this problem.  We're bringing it to

your attention because it's a problem.  And we want to

fix it.  And these are the steps that we're taking to

fix this problem."

            That protects the air carrier.  But in

every case that I've known that this has been used by

every air carrier in the U.S., the FAA takes that

policy, protects the air carrier, but submits letters

of investigation to the employees that were involved

that brought this to the air carrier's attention.

            In other words, the employees, the actual

employees, that brought this safety concern to the air

carrier are being penalized.  And that can't be

allowed to happen.

            CAPTAIN PREST:  If I may add just a

comment?  It is rare indeed that we have a period of

time when airlines are not in a period of financial

distress.  We think --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  But you will admit

that there are some carriers that view their existence

in the market much more short-term than long-term?

            CAPTAIN PREST:  I think that's probably

fair.  The members that I represent, I think if we go

back in history, we will find that the groundswell in

favor of FOQA took place during some very economically

depressed times.  One of the arguments that we have

made consistently throughout this process has been

that there is financial gain to be had on particularly

the engineering side of FOQA.

            There are airlines now that are

participating in the demo project who bring data to

the table that indicate very favorable results in

predictive engine maintenance issues where we can

demonstrate in a very short period of time that

financial benefits can be obtained through FOQA

programs.  So it's not necessarily the pilot

performance issues that have the direct payback.  Many

components can be analyzed and changed prior to

failure.

            We have some grandiose plans for FOQA.  We

think we can predict turbulence if we can measure

existing G spikes, the term, the turbulence that's

registered on the flight recorder at the present time.

            If we can back up ten minutes perhaps and

look at the conditions that led up to that turbulence

and counter, perhaps we can find a trend.  Perhaps we

can find wind temperature, subtle things that give us

a predictive ability.

            And then we convert that into a message to

the pilot that says, "You're going to run into

turbulence in ten minutes."  That's a wonderful tool. 

And we have a lot of injuries, as you know, in

turbulence-related accidents today.

            Flight attendants.  We're working very,

very closely with the flight attendants, trying to

educate the public and trying to deal with things that

we have at our disposal right now, usage of seat belts

and warning signs and so forth.  So turbulence is an

issue.

            That turns into cost when injuries occur

in the airplanes.  So we recognize there are benefits. 

And I do want to stress again that we're not trying to

take an enforcement tool away from FAA.  We're trying

to build a better safety tool.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Mr. Lexton?

            MR. LEXTON:  Yes, I had two questions, one

to a Mr. Haase and then a general question to the

panel coming from a statement from Mr. Haase.

            Mr. Haase, you had mentioned cockpit voice

recorders, and I was just curious as to aside from the

privacy issue, why would not analysis of cockpit voice

recorders be just as useful as analysis of flight data

recorders?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  In the case of an accident

where the crew is lost, that's what the cockpit voice

recorder is for.  It's for them to offer testimony in

their absence, if you will, of what took place.  Where

you have surviving crew, you have the crew members you

can talk to to work with to find out what took place.

            MR. LEXTON:  Okay.  And then you had also

made the statement that we can't tell other countries

how to configure their airports.  This is on the issue

of international safety.

            I just generally want to know what any of

your opinions are on the feasibility of bringing that

kind of issue, maybe not directly to the configuration

of airports, but airport and air traffic control

safety in other countries, into the bilateral and open

skies negotiations that we have with other countries;

in other words, requiring other countries to generally

meet our standards in this area in order to have

frequent service.

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  I wouldn't pretend to have

an even minute knowledge of how some of those

international agreements are put together or how

feasible that might be.

            The only thing that I would say is that I

think virtually every nation is now a member of ICAO. 

And the provisions of the Chicago treaty which formed

ICAO are really the basis for some type of

international agreement to go forward and do that.

            What I think is that the United States

needs to be very active in the ICAO arena, especially

in view of the review that they have forthcoming.  And

I think they have a major meeting in Montreal in

November that will be addressing various safety issues

and enforcement of the Chicago convention provisions.

            This is an example.  States are required

to file differences to ICAO standards if that state

elects not to comply.  States are also by virtue of

being signatories obligated to do the best they can to

try to meet that standard.

            Some states are doing neither.  They are

neither moving toward those objectives, nor are they

filing a difference to indicate that they don't

comply.

            So that's the reason the United States

needs to be active.  And my sense would be perhaps

someone could take a look and see if treaty provisions

through open skies are possible to do that.  Certainly

we should use every opportunity that's available to

us.  However, I think ICAO is a prime focal point as

well.

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  Mr. Lexton, I'd like to

answer the first part of your question and expand a

little bit as well.  The cockpit voice recorder

records 30 minutes of continuous taping.  It's of

great value to look at the last 30 minutes prior to an

accident based off the fact that you can hear what was

said, what switches were positioned prior to.  It

gives you some insight into the standard operating

procedure of the airline.  However, it doesn't give

you very much.  It's just a short, brief expanse of

time.

            I'd like to relate this to another type of

accident or event that happens on an airplane

occasionally in the form of aircraft tire separation. 

You need to look at a large section of time to figure

out why an airplane tire would separate, rather than

the last 30 minutes; or, in other words, just check

the pressure prior to its separation.  That's not

something that's of a lot of value to an analyst

that's trying to fix a problem permanently.

            MR. LEXTON:  I understand.  I guess part

of it is having pilots recollect what they were saying

or what they were doing, reacting to severe turbulence

or other things that caused deviations that are

noticed in the flight data recorders.  It might be

useful to hear actually what they were saying at the

time.

            And I think that certainly technology

could provide for longer than 30-minute voice

recording if that was something that people found to

be useful.  But that was more just a general

observation.

            Thank you.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Mr. Kaplan?

            VICE CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you.  Let me

ask you to take a little broader perspective from your

collective experiences.  I think it's fair to say that

one of the goals that we are likely to articulate or

recommendations is that the FAA focus on the long-term

strategy to reduce the 25 or 30-year historical

accident rate.

            We realize that we've been very fortunate

that it's as low as it is, but if it continues at this

flat rate, we also realize as the number of flights

increase what that will mean just in the sheer number

of accidents.

            I would like to ask you to share with us,

each one of you, if you can, what you think are the

two or three most important priorities that should go

into such a long-term strategy to reduce the

historical accident rate.  Mr. Prest, if you don't

mind starting?

            CAPTAIN PREST:  I'd be glad to.  I think

that we're not going to find a silver bullet out there

with regard to predicting the next accident and taking

corrective action before that accident occurs.  I wish

it were that simple.  I just don't anticipate that in

the either near or distant future.

            I think we have to take a systematic

approach to safety management and a broad approach, as

you suggest.  And I think we have to look at those

areas that we can recommend improvement in.  And

certainly the relationship between industry,

government, labor is an area in which we need to focus

for the future, for the long term.

            Many of you remember in 1994, we had a

very difficult year in aviation safety.  That led to

Secretary Pe¤a calling for CEOs and other interested

safety people to come to Washington here in January of

1995.

            And we had a gathering of about 1,000

interested people, some of whom were bona fide safety

experts, some of whom had agendas that went in various

directions.  But, nevertheless, the collective group

came up with 1,000 or so recommendations.

            We did that through a series of workshops. 

There were six.  And there were experts from various

disciplines and various walks of life comprising those

six workshops.  And in the years that followed, we

have had two follow-up meetings where those lists have

been whittled down into where we are now, about 30 or

40 bona fide safety initiatives being managed by the

6 workshops and a steering committee that's made up of

government, industry, and labor who are managing these

issues.

            FAA has provided a tracking system for us. 

And we are very enthusiastic about where we can go,

not only with the 30 or 40 issues, but with this type

of process.

            I think this exemplifies the type of

safety program and the safety cooperation that is

necessary to make the big changes of the future.  It's

a process.  It's not the silver bullet.

            And I would encourage this group with its

credibility to put forth a recommendation that

strongly endorses a continued cooperative spirit among

the principal players, broaden it if necessary.  Your

wisdom and what you bring to this process will be

looked at and reflected upon and will be hopefully

enacted upon.

            So I look to a process as being the way in

which we can improve safety in the future.

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  I'll have to agree with Al

here on that and expand on it just a little bit. 

Asking the FAA or an airline to exist without each

other is like asking the House or the Senate to exist

without each other.  We want --

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  They would probably

appreciate that.

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  Yes, but you all

acknowledge that the final product as you work

together benefits the American people more than just

if one of -- yes, I know.

            Airlines -- and my airline is no

different.  Airlines have to have the FAA, just as the

FAA has to have the airline.  They can accomplish. 

And what they have accomplished over the last 30 years

of existence has been staggering.  Since 1903, from

the time of Kitty Hawk, to the time of now, we're

flying supersonic transport.  I mean, it boggles the

mind.

            However, if the FAA or the airline was --

if they were to trying to accomplish the same things

singularly, we would still be flying reciprocating

airplanes right now.  I mean, we'd all be flying

propellers.  It's not something that either one of us

could have accomplished by ourselves.

            The idea of preventing accidents or a zero

accident rate, I don't know if that's possible.  But

I have to tell you as an expert at my airline that

deals with our working environment, I have to try

because I cannot sleep at night worrying about the

things that I don't know of that I can't fix.

            The flying public deserves better than

what it gets now.  And it's got a pretty good

reputation, but it needs to go one step further.  And

the only way that step can happen is with the FAA and

the airline industry working together.

            I know it sounds cliche in many regards,

but if you break that down into your own personal

life, many of you have been married a long time and as

a couple, you have accomplished more together than

either one of you could have accomplished by

yourselves.

            The FAA and the airline industry are no

different.  We need each other, and we need to work

together.  I guess that's all I have to say about

that.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Mr. Frenzel?  I'm sorry. 

Captain Haase?

            CAPTAIN HAASE:  I guess I would like to

echo Captain Prest's remarks, simply add that if we

are to prevent future accidents, we have to be aware

of those things that are taking place or we see that

there is a hazard, undue risk, and address those

problems in a positive fashion before they actually

become accidents.

            You can only do that through a process. 

And, as Mr. Clark has indicated, Captain Clark has

indicated, you can't do that alone.  It's got to be a

cooperative effort.

            You have to use all the resources that are

available in sharing data, sharing information in

order to bring focus, find out where the problems are,

and work your way through it.

            So you need the formalized programs, can't

work off the back of an envelope anymore and just

react to things on a day-to-day basis.  It requires a

lot more sophistication than that.

            I just might make a brief remark.  I think

you may have heard of Professor Deminy, who worked

under General MacArthur after World War II to try to

help rebuild the Japanese industry and the concepts

that he brought to them in terms of quality assurance

to be able to produce better products.  And that has

taken years and years and years of work for that to be

totally ingrained, but the work that he started over

three years ago has resulted in significant changes.

            I think we're looking at something like

that in the airline industry.

            MR. CLEMMER:  If I may comment from

strictly a maintenance side, I think a large bang for

us is in MRM, or maintenance resource management,

using human factors as a solution base primarily as a

tool, for instance, utilizing the ASRS for reporting

incidents, having a mechanic come forward, I believe,

and say, "I made a mistake" and doing root cause

analysis and determining what the cause was and then

fixing it.  I think that's the area, really, that is

a big point for us.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Thank you.

            Mr. Frenzel?

            MR. FRENZEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

            I just want to thank the panel for their

testimony.  The only thing I wanted to do was to

extend an invitation to Mr. Haase and just to reaffirm

that the cargo industry, UPS included, is very

interested in collision avoidance.  We just happen to

think that there's a different way of doing it.

            There was an extensive hearing held in

this room back in March.  As a result of that hearing,

the Aviation Subcommittee sent a letter to the FAA

asking that they work with the industry and other

interested parties to try to develop a date certain by

which collision avoidance should be in cargo aircraft. 

They were intrigued by the testimony that we gave on

our collision avoidance system.

            We are currently working with FAA, with

Mitre, and with other interested people to try to

develop this.  And anyone who wants to participate is

free to do so.

            Thanks.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Thank you very much.

            MR. O'BRIEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

            For Captain Clark, beyond the FOQA

programs and partnership programs, there are other

programs that build upon these that collect even more

data, analyze more data.  And, as several of you have

indicated, that data collection analysis, developing

of information, and sharing are key to some of these

programs.

            I know that Alaska Airlines has really

been a leader in looking at data in addition to that

data which is normally ascribed from the FOQA program

being looking at events or occurrences outside the

norm.  One of the keys is determining the norm.

            Could you just say a very little bit about

the program you're involved in with NASA to look at

all data, rather than just event-driven data?

            CAPTAIN CLARK:  Yes, sir.  NASA's

automated performance measurement system is the next

generation to FOQA.  Current off-the-shelf software

deals with exceedances.  In other words, you can flag

a particular event that you may want to know about.

            An example would be a high rate of descent

at a low altitude.  I can program a computer to tell

me that the airplane has generated a

5,000-foot-a-minute descent.  It will send a flag up,

and it will mark that.  And then I can look at that

particular event.

            The volumes of data that we're talking

about per airplane is one gigabyte per data per year

per airplane, which up until about a year ago I was

not computer-literate, but I am not.  It's a

tremendous amount of data.

            NASA's APMS program looks at that data as

a whole.  And it establishes the baseline based off

of, say, 5,000 flights.  And what it then looks for is

a variance in the baseline, rather than just an

exceedance.  What it's designed to surface is things

that are not an exceedance yet but, if not corrected,

could possibly be in the future.

            Things that would influence that would be

seasonal change during the year, training going on

with an air traffic control facility, high

acceleration load limits on one aspect of an airplane

that wouldn't necessarily be identifiable unless it

was varied from a baseline.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Well, let me thank the

panel very, very much for their presentation and

adding to our deliberation on this very important

area.  So, again, thank you very, very much.

            Now I'd like to call on Panel 2.  It's

made up of:  Mr. Rick Falcone, Manager, Technical

Operations, American Airlines; Chris Pear, Manager,

Flight Dispatch, United Airlines talking about

collaborative decision-making teams; William Leber,

Director, Legislative Affairs from the Airline

Dispatchers Federation; and Gail Dunham, a family

member of United Airlines Flight Number 585 accident

victim.  Many of you will recall Flight 585 as the

Colorado Springs accident.

            So if I could have the panel come forward? 

And we'll start with Mr. Falcone.

            MR. FALCONE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and

ladies and gentlemen of the Commission.

                     PANEL 2:  

         COLLABORATIVE DECISION-MAKING TEAM

            MR. FALCONE:  I'm Rich Falcone, Manager of

Technical Operations, American Airlines System

Operations Control Center.  And I'm here with Chris

Pear today to address the safety benefits of the

Collaborative Decision-Making Program referred to as

CDM.

            The White House Commission on Aviation

Safety and Security has called for a strong

government-industry partnership needed to develop and

integrate the research, standards, regulations,

procedures, and infrastructure needed to support the

aviation system of the future.  This is from the final

report to President Clinton in February of 1997.

            The Collaborative Decision-Making Program,

though not as well-known as other aviation incentives,

is such a government-industry partnership.  Now

officially RTCA Special Committee 191, Collaborative

Air Traffic Management, CDM involves personnel from

all aspects of the aviation community, FAA and other

government entities, airlines, private industry, and

academia, who are developing and creating tools to

benefit the national airspace system as a whole.  The

potential benefits of this type of collaborative

effort are significant both economically and

functionally.

            CDM is in the process of examining and

implementing near-term goals for a future national

airspace system as defined by the free flight action

plan, especially those relate to the safety and

efficiency of the national airspace system.

            Under RTCA Special Committee 191, the CDM

implementation group oversees subgroups to

conceptualize and implement specific aspects of CDM. 

Three of these groups work with elements directly

related to aviation safety:  ground delay program

enhancements, national airspace system status

information, and collaborative routing.

            All CDM incentives rely on information

exchange and collaboration between government and

industry to accomplish their goals.  Already CDM has

implemented a tool to enhance the exchange of

information among National Airspace users and

operators.

            The AOCnet, up and running at eight major

airlines, is a communications link between airline

operational control centers, or AOCs; air traffic

control system command center; and the Volpe National

Transportation Center, which allows members two-way

data exchange of real-time information, such as flight

schedule information, airport arrival rates, et

cetera.

            Funded mostly by the airlines who now use

it, this link is an integral part of the information

sharing which is key to the CDM program and the

implementation of a new national airspace system.  The

aforementioned subgroups are all reliant on the AOCnet

to implement their concepts.

            The ground delay program enhancements. 

This group is the most mature of the CDM subgroups. 

The decision support tools created by ground delay

program enhancements are scheduled to go into

prototype operations at San Francisco and Newark

airports this winter.

            The ground delay program group has been

established to determine what changes are needed in

policies and procedures as well as modifications and

enhancements to the actual infrastructure, the flight

schedule monitor, enhanced traffic management systems

database, and AOCnet.

            Part of this infrastructure, flight

schedule monitor, enables national airspace system

users to view operational constraints and information

from the AOCnet in the same format as the air traffic

control system command center.

            Flight schedule monitor allows airlines

and the command center to monitor special airports as

well as use specific flight information, airport

arrival rates, open arrival slots, and other

information pertinent to flight operation.

            Flight schedule monitor gives the air

traffic command center the complete picture of the

national airspace system demand and constraints, as

well as allowing operators to react quickly to those

constraints.

            Both airline operation control centers and

the ATC Command Center can perform "What if?" analyses

and view different allocations of resources as well as

view the consequences of their actions on the national

airspace system and its users in a matter of seconds.

            The safety benefits are still being

realized with this tool.  Because of its quick

processing, flight schedule monitor allows controllers

more time to view varied national airspace scenarios

and choose the safest method to avoid constraints. 

Already airlines are using flight schedule monitor to

predict flight fuel needs.

            When an airport's demand exceeds its

capacity, airlines can view the demand and predict

delay at that airport.  This allows operators to

determine the need for extra fuel on flights arriving

at that airport, which may be delayed in the air, or

reroute flights already en route to the airport which

cannot accept delays due to fuel load.

            National airspace status information.  NAS

status information enhancements of CDM will provide

critical safety-related information that is currently

not available to all users or is currently not

disseminated in a timely manner.  This group is in the

process of prioritizing national airspace system

information, which will be made available through the

AOCnet and pertains to significant conditions which

could affect the safety of flight, such as:  runway

contamination, braking action, turbulence, and icing,

to name a few.

            Through the AOCnet, information can be

rapidly distributed to all necessary parties so that

ATC and flight operators and crews may make necessary

changes in flight operations.

            National airspace system information

disseminated by way of the AOCnet would allow direct

communications between individual airlines.  This

could avoid accidents attributed to delayed

information being disseminated by a third party.

            For example, sudden adverse weather

conditions may be known to a pilot of one airline but

unknown to any other party in the national airspace

system.  If the pilot reports the conditions to their

flight dispatcher, that information can then be made

immediately available to any airline accessing the

AOCnet.  Other airlines can then reroute flights

around the weather, thus avoiding hazardous

conditions.

            Currently it can take anywhere from

minutes to hours for pilot information to be

distributed outside their own airline.  This can cause

other aircraft to fly directly in unexpected weather

conditions, resulting in passenger or crew member

injuries due to turbulence or even fatal accidents.

            National airspace status information

requires the collaboration of government and industry

to share information known to them, making public what

once may not have been accessible.

            MR. PEAR:  Good morning.  My name is Chris

Pear.  I am Manager of Flight Dispatch Operations for

United Airlines and also a long-term member of the CDM

working group.  What I'd like to talk to you about is

one of the other workgroups under the CDM group, which

is the collaborative routing group.

            The air traffic control system has

constraints due to volume, weather, and other factors

that require ATC to alter the foul route of flights to

meet the needs of the NAS system.

            Currently FAA flow managers and system

users must rely on verbal communications; i.e.,

conference calling, to decide on course of action to

avoid disruption to the orderly flow of traffic.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Mr. Pear, could I ask

you to pull the microphone up a little bit?  Thank

you, sir.

            MR. PEAR:  The RTCA report on free flight

recommends that FAA explore alternate technologies and

techniques which will allow FAA flow controllers and

aircraft operators to engage in a more effective

collaborative decision-making process.

            The goal of CDM's collaborative routing

subgroup is two parts:  one, create a system allowing

ATC and the users to negotiate routes which avoid

congestion and delays in the NAS; and, two, allow

users and ATC to negotiate routes that avoid adverse

weather while minimizing negative impact to the

national airspace system.

            Collaborative routing seeks to create

policies, procedures, and techniques which will allow

users to view ATC constraints and which will allow the

user to plan their flights within these constraints.

            The lack of common situational awareness

may lead to a route selection that is not in the best

interest of individual carriers or that may compromise

the safety of flight.

            Information pertinent to the safety of

flight would be made available through collaborative

routing efforts.  Through collaborative routing

efforts between ATC and the users, flights will be

able to better avoid adverse conditions and routing

which would endanger the flight.

            Aircraft dispatchers choose route of

flights for several reasons:  time and fuel

considerations, en route contingencies, and weather

conditions.  Many times a flight may only accept

limited changes, if any, to a route that has been

filed for.

            ATC changes to a flight route can lead to

changes in meteorological, topographical, and

geographical characteristics of the flight which

eliminate the possibility of using contingency plans

previously agreed upon by the captain and the

dispatchers.

            These unexpected route changes can

drastically affect the safety of the flight itself. 

However, if the users have access to the constraints

which ATC is working under, they would have the

ability to route flights accordingly in a manner that

would allow both flight and ATC to meet operational

and safety needs.

            Collaborative routing subgroup is in the

process of developing concepts to achieve these goals. 

Collaborative routing has divided itself into two

groups:  one operational group with personnel from

both FAA and airlines, which will develop scenarios

and the necessary procedures to achieve the goals of

the group; and, two, a technical group with personnel

from academic institutions, industry, and airlines,

who will implement the technologies recommended by the

operational subgroup by either using existing tools or

developing new ones.

            The collaborative routing group will also

utilize the AOCnet to send mass constraint information

to the users.  April 1998 has been set as a target

date to implement operational modeling using existing

technologies as a starting point for collaborative

routing efforts.  At the same time, both the operation

and technical members of the collaborative routing

subgroup will continue to develop a long-term

solution.

            The conclusion:  The CDM concepts are

destined to become the first initiatives of the free

flight action plan to come to fruition and will

establish a new philosophy in air traffic management

through a cooperative decision-making approach.  Never

before have such positive and mutually beneficial

accomplishments have been witnessed than what has

occurred because of the collaboration between FAA and

the airlines in recent years.

            The key elements to success of industry

cooperation and the rapid exchange of information,

ground delay program enhancements, has already

validated the benefit of cooperative decision-making. 

And prototype operations are soon to begin.

            Information exchange is made possible

through the AOCnet, which is already established and

provides the conduit for expeditious dissemination and

acquisition of operational and safety-related

information.

            Not only will the CDM effort improve

efficiency of the NAS, promote better allocation of

resources, and improve passenger service, but most

important are the potential enhancements to aviation

safety, which is and will remain the first precept of

airline operations.

            Thank you.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Thank you very much, Mr.

Pear.

            Mr. Leber?

            MR. LEBER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

distinguished members.

           AIRLINE DISPATCHERS FEDERATION

            MR. LEBER:  I'm Bill Leber, the Director

of Legislative Affairs for the Airline Dispatchers

Federation.  The Airline Dispatchers Federation

represents the professional interests of airline

dispatchers, dispatch managers, and related

operational control professionals.  On behalf of the

membership of ADF, I'd like to thank you for allowing

us this opportunity to address some important safety

issues.

            Congressman Oberstar once stated that the

dispatcher is the best kept secret in aviation.  And

I would urge all of you that a full understanding of

the dispatcher's role can bring more to the table,

urge all of you to use this organization as one of

your many resources.  And we'll avail ourselves to

whatever depth of understanding you're interested in.

            We're lucky to have Mr. Giles O'Keeffe

here, our Vice President.  And he'll deliver the

remainder of our statement.

            MR. O'KEEFFE:  A dispatcher with no name

on the table.

            As aviation has progressed in this

country, the role that accurate and timely aviation

weather reports play in aviation safety seems to have

been lost.  Replacing licensed and trained weather

observers with the automated surface observation

system, ASOS, has degraded the safety of airline

operations because of inaccurate weather information

being disseminated by a system that even the GAO says

has inaccurate sensors.

            Aviation weather reports that are

inaccurate are such a concern that the FAA and

National Weather Service last year created a hierarchy

of airport weather-reporting requirements.

            Major airports will now have ASOS plus an

observer and report all the weather information that

was available from every reporting site before ASOS. 

Other categories of airports will have less

weather-reporting capabilities and will be more

dependent on ASOS with all its documented problems. 

You know how your home airports rank in this new

hierarchy.

            While there are many safety efforts being

promoted in aviation today, they will all be for

naught if we do not provide in the year 2000 at least

the same caliber of aviation weather reports we had in

1950.  The ADF believes the ASOS experiment has

failed, and the FAA and NWS must find the means to

ensure accurate and timely aviation weather reports

immediately.

            Another area of concern for ADF members is

FAA oversight of airline operational control.  The FAA

has experienced cabin attendants who inspect cabin

safety requirements.  The FAA has experienced pilots

to inspect flight deck safety issues.  The FAA has

experienced maintenance personnel who inspect

maintenance requirements.

            Under FAR Part 121, no scheduled flight

operates unless it is specifically authorized by an

FAA-licensed dispatcher who is jointly responsible

with the pilot in command for the safe operation of

the flight.

            If the dispatch office from where these

operational decisions on how, when, where, and if to

operate is flawed, then the entire operation is

jeopardized.  The FAA has no experienced dispatcher on

staff to help POIs oversee their air carrier's

dispatch office.

            You would not require a maintenance

inspector to monitor flight crew operating procedures. 

You would not require a cabin safety expert to monitor

maintenance procedures.  Why do we continue to allow

a system where in the very foundation of safe flight,

the flight dispatch office is monitored by individuals

who have no experience or skill in the vital function

being performed?

            The FAA sorely needs to acquire

experienced dispatchers who can assist the FAA in

monitoring all aspects of airline operational control. 

The ADF urges the immediate incorporation of principal

dispatch inspectors into the FAA hierarchy.

            One instance where experienced dispatchers

would have assisted the FAA is in the certification of

air carriers using global positioning systems, or GPS,

as their primary means of navigation.

            The POIs and other inspectors of the FAA

who worked on this examined the problem from the

perspective of the pilots that they are.  They made

sure that the certification included procedures to

ensure GPS navigation along the route of flight, which

is their area of expertise.

            Dispatchers view things from a different

perspective.  For example, as dispatchers, we handle

more diversions and flights with engine failures in a

year than a line pilot will see in an entire career.

            An experienced dispatcher would have

required the air carrier to also show that adequate

GPS navigation existed from any point along the flight

route to any planned alternate airports.

            The worst case scenario is over the

Atlantic Ocean in a two-engine airplane operating

under 180-minute ETOPS.  The engine fails at the

critical point.  The flight drifts down on one engine

to 2,000 feet above the sea in clouds on instruments. 

This is no time to discover that GPS navigation will

be unreliable for 30 minutes in this area as the crew

gropes its way to an ETOPS alternate.

            GPS navigation certification must be

strengthened and additional safeguards put in place

for commercial air carrier use before the horse leaves

the barn.  Experienced, licensed dispatchers must be

part of the FAA inspection force to ensure adequate

oversight of this and many other areas.

            The life blood of aviation safety is real

time, accurate information.  In aviation, we desire

perfect information so that, as in the game of chess,

we can foresee all the consequences of a decision.

            For many years, we have seen little

improvement in the basic systems to transfer

safety-related aviation information, such as notices

to airmen.  We still operate every day with imperfect

information, which is like playing chess with pawns,

instead of bishops and knights.  Imperfect information

makes every decision a gamble, rather than a

calculated risk.

            The ADF is pleased to report that as part

of the collaborative decision-making effort that we

have supported and participated in, a new FAA-to-user

intranet is now in place and information is being

exchanged between users and the FAA.

            The air carriers and the FaA built this

system jointly to transfer information that will

enhance both the efficiency of the national airspace

and safety.

            We ask your support for the necessary

funding for collaborative decision-making or CDM so

that we can get safety-related information, such as

low-level wind shear, icing reports, severe turbulence

reports, and other information distributed through

this new system.  While we may never achieve

perfection in the area of safety information, CDM is

a major and inexpensive step towards a reduction of

risk in flight operations.

            We also ask your support for the new air

traffic routing concepts from the CDM effort that ADF

has long been a part of.  The safety of flight is

often contingent upon operating along a specific route

that the dispatcher and pilot in command have agreed

to.

            ATC separation requirements and ATC

workload management issues have resulted in flights

being placed by ATC on routes that degraded the safety

level of those flights.

            The concept of collaboration between air

traffic control and the users to meet the needs of

both will increase the safety of flight, and it needs

your support.

            The members of ADF do not consider

themselves experts in circadian rhythms and fatigue. 

We do believe that reasonable people agree that the

pilot of a 29-seat scheduled passenger aircraft is a

carbon-based unit extremely similar to the pilot of a

31-seat passenger aircraft.  And, therefore, each

should have the same adequate rest during their work

schedules and cycles.

            We hope you will encourage the FAA to

issue rational and reasonable crew duty time and rest

rules that will create a single level of safety for

all Part 121 scheduled operations.

            In conclusion, the ADF membership has many

concerns about aviation safety.  And we are working to

improve the system and solve the problems.  Today, in

fact, ADF officers are meeting with FAA inspectors in

Denver to discuss these and other issues, such as

corporate culture, certification of automated tools,

and access to new weather sources.  And starting on

Friday, we're running a two-day seminar in Denver also

on risk management and dispatch decision-making.

            We greatly appreciate you allowing us

generous use of your time to express our views.  And

we ask that we be allowed to submit more detailed

information for the record.

            Thank you very much.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Very fine.  Yes, the

record will remain open for your submission.

            MR. O'KEEFFE:  Thank you, sir.

            (NO ORGANIZATION AFFILIATION)

            MS. DUNHAM:  My name is Gail Dunham, and

I'm requesting that the Commission request a

transportation congressional committee with the power

to act to hold public hearings about the number one

item on the National Transportation Safety Board most

wanted list:  require the installation of flight data

recorders with a larger number of parameters.

            For years, airline crash investigations

have been hampered by airplanes equipped with

antiquated flight data recorders, especially the

Boeing 737s.  The FAA has granted the airlines ten

years of unnecessary delays.

            Traveler magazine recently called the

recorder the "life preserver," stating, "The cockpit

voice recorder and flight data recorder, or so-called

black boxes, have emerged in the last decade as the

two most indispensable aids to air-crash investigation

and, hence, to future air safety.  When pilots have no

chance to speak, the recorder sometimes can."

            I am retired from the airlines.  And most

of my life, I believed that the government and the

airlines were doing everything possible to ensure safe

air transportation.  During the last six years, I have

learned that too often manufacturers and the airlines

put money and profits first.

            On March 3rd, 1991, United Flight 585, a

Boeing 737-200, was approaching Colorado Springs to

land when the 737 flipped upside down and within seven

seconds went into the ground like a rocket. 

Twenty-five wonderful people were killed.

            My ex-husband, Hal Green, was the captain

on that United flight.  Our daughter, Gretchen, was

17.  Hal was only 51.  Gretchen is now in her second

year of medical school, she misses her father more

than you could ever imagine.  All of the best was yet

to come for both of them.

            I have searched for answers to why this

accident occurred because what happened to our family

should never happen to anyone else.  To this day, I

have seen no records of a scientific investigation of

the United 585 crash.  The black box could have

provided those answers.

            Five eighty-five in 1991 and other

unsolved 737 crash investigations in the U.S. and

abroad have been denied the most important tool, an

upgraded flight data recorder.

            The data recorder in 585 had only 5

parameters in 1991.  USAir 427, 3 and a half years

later, had only 11 parameters.  Ron Brown's 737, which

crashed in Croatia April of '96, had no flight data

recorder.

            I personally have been lobbying the

airlines to install upgraded recorders.  The airlines

state they're in compliance with the FAA.  Meanwhile,

the airlines have effectively lobbied the FAA to delay

installation of the upgraded recorders until August

2001 or later.

            The United States has put a vehicle on

Mars.  Yet, the FAA has delayed the installation of

upgraded data recorders for ten years.

            The public hearing for 585 was canceled. 

It appears that we have the only commercial crash with

a canceled public hearing.  The Safety Board did read

reports at a meeting about 585.  And in December 1992,

I personally watched John Lauber, a Safety Board

member at that time, and others push for upgraded data

recorders by 1994.

            Earlier this year I met Lauber, and I

reminded him of his words that he had said in 1992 and

the need for upgraded recorders.  He had just given a

speech about Delta's $221 million profit for the first

quarter of '97.  But he said my request was not

reasonable.  It appears Delta 737s to this day have

only 9 or 11 channels.

            After 585, the disaster was not in the

news.  That was when the soldiers were coming home

from Operation Desert Storm.  Now six years later, ten

entire Country of Kuwait has been rebuilt.  However,

the Boeing 737s in the U.S. are still primarily

equipped with antiquated flight data recorders.

            Throughout these years, the airlines have

refused to spend the airline-quoted figure of only

4,000 to 20,000 dollars per aircraft to upgrade the

recorder.  The FAA in July of this year said the cost

would be only $3,067 to $5,611 per aircraft.

            Most people who fly would wonder why the

airlines are refusing to comply with the Safety Board

number one most wanted safety item.  After years of

research, I've come to the conclusion that the

corporate powers do not want the data recordings of

the rudder anomalies that plague the 737.

            Southwest Airlines has been credited with

being the most aggressive in upgrading the flight data

recorders on the 737 fleet.  And their new aircraft

seem to be probably the best that we can find in the

United States as far as upgraded recorders.

            However, earlier this year they reported

that 75 to 80 percent of their fleet had more than 6

channels.  This means that 20 to 25 percent of their

fleet have or had 6 channels or less.  It appears none

of the 737-200s in the United States are going to be

upgraded with upgraded flight data recorders.  Yet,

the airlines plan to fly them until the year 2000.

            Meanwhile, Qantas has equipped their 737s

with data recorders with 218 channels.  And they have

a definite time line to complete installation of quick

access recorders.

            Qantas uses the data to work with the

pilots.  And the use of modern technology, a spirit of

disclosure and working together may be the most

important component in Qantas' excellent safety

record.

            Some 737s in Europe are equipped with

recorders that record 300 to 600 channels.  Japan

Airlines has one of the most extensive flight data

evaluation programs in the world.  The airbuses are

equipped with sensors and data buses that can report

on 600 or more instrument readings and switch and

control positions.  Cockpit video recorders are also

available.  We can only imagine what the true

state-of-the-art data recorder could accomplish.

            The cockpit voice recorder is also part of

the black box.  And it's also a very important

component for airline crash investigation.  The

current archaic laws give the complete control and

ownership of this information to the airlines and only

allow people to read an edited transcript long after

a crash.

            It is ridiculous the airlines are saying

that they're trying to protect the family members from

words of profanity.  If family members of the cockpit

crew want to hear the cockpit voice recorders, they

should be allowed to listen.

            I think that a full, unedited written

transcript of every word or partial word from the

cockpit voice recorder should be made public as soon

as possible after an accident.

            I've heard the airlines say, "Oh, people

wouldn't understand the cockpit voice recorder."  This

is an insult to the thousands of excellent independent

aviation experts in the U.S. who could be helpful

during crash investigation.

            April of '96, the Safety Board reported

the airlines have lied about the cost of installing

the flight data recorders.  The corporations have said

they'd have to take the aircraft out of service, out

of revenue service.  And they also said that they

would have to remove the lavatory.

            Safety Board staff found that the industry

cost had not really identified innovative measures

that might reduce costs.  Safety Board investigators

found that the lavatories did not need to be removed

and that wiring could be routed through existing

ports, saving quite a bit in labor and there wouldn't

be a down time.  The Safety Board has concluded that

the work could be done in approximately four to five

overnight visits or on a C check without extending the

visit.

            The money is there for these upgrades and

much more.  Boeing makes $2 million a day profits

during a bad year when they were shut down during a

strike.  They're probably making $5 million a day

profits as I speak.  We can only imagine the lavish

corporate perks they give themselves.  Airline profits

are at record highs of perhaps $2 million a day for

many airlines.

            The Safety Board's requests for upgraded

recorders go back many years.  And there's a mountain

of paperwork that shows the FAA has ignored the

requests.  Barry Valentine was Director of the FAA for

only a few months.  Yet, one of his final acts

certainly made him the corporate sweetheart.

            July of this year, Valentine authorized

another four to five-year delay or more before

requiring the increased parameter for the flight data

recorders.  Newly manufactured aircraft do not need to

comply until 2002 or later.  This is absurd because it

would be much easier to install the upgrades during

the manufacturing process.

            The FAA press release in July of '97 which

announced the four to five-year delay was also a

disaster.  It appears there were three or four

versions issued.  Some information was left blank. 

And other statements were incorrect.

            When I called the FAA Media Office, I

said, "Who had approved the press release?"  I was

told the FAA only talks with the press.  And the

employees at the FAA would, quote, "say whatever they

wanted," unquote.

            I again asked my question, "Who approved

the press release?"  And I sent it to the Director of

Public Affairs.  However, he has refused to answer my

FOIA, my certified letter.

            The FAA has ignored the Safety Board,

newspaper and magazine editorials, and the traveling

public on this issue.  Last Friday Boeing announced

delay of the 737 production because "tests have

revealed design problems in the newest version of the

plane," unquote.

            Traveler magazine also reported, "Fixes to

Troubled Jet Delayed.  737 Still Flies Under 'Unsafe

Conditions.'"  I recommend congressional hearings and

a directive to the airlines to complete the upgraded

recorders by June of 1998.  If the airlines have been

doing their job, June '98 should be no  problem.  If

they have not done the work, then June '98 is more

important than every before.

            I'd very much like to hear from people who

concur that we need upgraded flight data recorders,

especially for the 737s.  I've written to about 40

airlines that use 737s.  And most say they comply with

the FAA, which, of course, is allowing this delay

until 2001 or 2002.

            I very much want to hear from airlines

that are upgrading their recorders and not waiting

until the next century.  I applaud those airlines that

are moving ahead, and I would really like to see

specifics about number of channels per airplane and

more.  The airlines should be proud of the modern

technology of their aircraft and be willing to share

that information.

            I will talk with anyone who will listen. 

And I'm very willing to go anywhere to talk with

people who will listen because I can't impress upon

you enough I want the 737 data recorder and power

control unit retrofits completed as soon as possible.

            This may be the most important aviation

safety issue on the table today.  While the FAA

refuses to promptly respond to the Safety Board number

one safety recommendation, we need congressional

hearings and actions.

            Thank you for the opportunity, and I

welcome your questions.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Very well.  Thank you

very much, Ms. Dunham.

            Members of the panel, any questions?  Any

questions of the panel members from the Commission? 

Anybody have any questions of the panel?

            (No response.)

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  If not, let me just

touch on one part of it.  On the CDM, if I could ask

either Mr. Pear or Mr. Falcone:  What more do you

think you folks are going to have to have in order to

get the FAA to buy into CDM from your perspective?

            MR. FALCONE:  Mr. Chairman, from my

perspective, I think the majority or for the most

part, the FAA has bought into it.  The collaboration

is there, and it's very enlightening.

            I think funding, FAA funding, will be

necessary.  Airlines, of course, will have to

participate financially.  The airline representatives

that are involved in the CDM program are all doing it

voluntarily.  So at this point, I think continuation

for the CDM program would be most significant.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  And where would that

funding be directed?

            MR. PEAR:  I believe it goes to the TFM

IPT through AUA 500.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Mr. Pear?

            MR. PEAR:  The only thing I was going to

add was that there is a cultural change involved with

CDM.  The airlines are going through it.  And also the

FAA is going through it.  For years, it has always

been perceived it was the airlines against the FAA.

            The philosophy of CDM is the airlines and

the FAA against the weather.  So the idea is that for

years, we have been at odds with each other.  We have

fought with each other.

            Through the CDM process, we're beginning

to see how the weather affects the ATC system from the

ATC side of the picture and also the ATC side as being

able to see how the weather affects the airline's

operations from our side of the picture.

            With the ground delay enhancement

programs, we have run what we called human-in-loop

exercises, where we did exchange positions or

role-playing type of things where we actually brought

command center personnel out to the airlines.

            And we sent airline people out to the

command center in Herndon to see how the other side

approaches the same problem.  So we got a better

picture of how we can work together collaboratively to

solve the problem through our mutual betterment.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Okay.  Carol?

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  I have a question for

the dispatchers, whoever which of you.  I'm sorry.  I

didn't catch one of your names, but whichever one

would like to answer this.

            I know you said you would be submitting

sort of lengthier testimony, but you've got us sitting

here now and you've got a shot.  So why don't you tell

us from your point of view what it is you think we

ought to be addressing.  What should our priorities on

safety be?  And, therefore, what priorities should we

tell the FAA they should have on safety?

            MR. O'KEEFFE:  A very capable congressman

at a hearing on single level of safety a few years

back had walked into a hearing and when the microphone

was turned over to him said, "Dispatch.  Isn't that

the difference?  One twenty-one has it, and 135

doesn't."  And that was Congressman Mineta.

            It is a secret in the airline business. 

There are FAR regulations that state the dispatcher

and pilot commander are jointly responsible for a

flight.  And you can tell from Mr. Falcone and Chris

Pear and Phil and myself.  We're all tied in together.

            The CDM initiative and everything else is

a C change, a cultural change.  In the old days, we

took the ATC's word when they said, "You can't operate

to New York now because we think there's going to be

weather there."

            We'd sit there and say, "Well, we don't

agree with you.  We don't think the weather is going

to be there.  And guess what?  We've got better

whether tools than you do."  And then you get into a

shouting match, and nobody went anywhere.

            I may need to operate that flight now

because my crew may have been on duty for 8 or 9 hours

and they're pushing their limit or there's 100 reasons

why I may need to operate it.

            The FAA does -- make up your own mind

whether they do an excellent job or a good job or

whatever kind of job they do in inspecting the

aviation industry in this country.  They do not do a

good job of inspecting dispatch in this country

because they don't have any dispatch experts.

            If you come into my dispatch office, you

will hear everything that goes on in that airline as

each flight operates because they communicate with us. 

Each pilot in command has to remain in agreement with

his dispatcher through the continuation of the flight. 

It doesn't --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  So you're asking for

more FAA oversight of you?

            MR. O'KEEFFE:  Maybe not even necessarily

more oversight.  I'm asking for more specific

oversight.  I want dispatch experts in the FAA to

examine dispatch offices.  And if you do that, you

will be at the center of operational control for each

of the air carriers.

            And you will have a much better grasp on

what the real circumstances of airline operation

control are, what the national airspace system

constraints are, the whole system.

            I have you in front of me, and I don't

want to insult anybody.  But if you don't understand

dispatch, you can't understand commercial aviation. 

And that's what I want this panel to do, somehow get

down and understand what dispatch does, understand the

importance of it and support it through the FAA or

mandate the FAA support it more than they have in the

past.

            Does that answer it?

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Yes, I think so.

            MR. O'KEEFFE:  I'm being careful.  I'm

usually not allowed off my leash.  So I have to be

careful what I say.  I'm usually required to stick to

the text.

            MR. LEBER:  I would only briefly add that

in discussions about what additional things the FAA

could do to enhance the dispatch role in aviation

safety, our conclusion was that sufficient regulation

exists.

            We don't need additional regulation.  We

simply need to get back to the genius that went into

the regulations back in the '30s, requiring a joint

responsibility for each flight, which is unique to our

system worldwide, which is partially responsible for

the outstanding aviation safety record in this

country, which is unmatched.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Any other members of the

Commission have any questions?  Let me just ask Ms.

Dunham, if I might:  What is the status of the NTSB

record on Flight 585?  Could you update me on that?

            MS. DUNHAM:  I've been told that the

investigation is still open because it's classified as

unsolved, although I think there were many problems

with the investigation.

            Again, we're the only commercial airline

crash where the public hearing was canceled.  Many

things were delayed.  Parts were destroyed. 

Technically it's an open investigation because it's

called unsolved.

            Four twenty-seven is scheduled to have

their third Sunshine hearing I believe in February.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Four twenty-seven is the

Pittsburgh?

            MS. DUNHAM:  Pittsburgh one, which was

three and a half years after 585.  If they had been

proactive in installing the upgraded recorders when

there were only 2,000 737s, we probably would have had

a cause faster for 427.

            And there have been other 737

international crashes which haven't been as

newsworthy, but they were also where there was

suspicion of a rudder anomaly where an airplane's

flipping upside down and falling out of the air.

            It's a very rare phenomenon, but it seems

to have happened on these 737s.  It's tied probably to

the rudder, the yaw damper, and the power control

unit.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  And did those 737s have

flight data recorders with enhanced --

            MS. DUNHAM:  No, no.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  -- a larger number of

prongs on them as compared to --

            MS. DUNHAM:  As a matter of fact, most of

the new aircraft today have fabulous flight data

recorders, but the new 737s, the upgraded recorder is

considered an option by Boeing.  And I think it should

be automatically built in.

            As I said, the FAA has now given them

another four to five-year delay.  And they're planning

to operate all the 737-200s until the year 2000 with

no upgraded recorders.

            There are 737-200s in the United States,

commercial ones, that are flying with no flight data

at position units, just some very old mechanisms for

the speed and those basic recordings.

            And, again, if the airlines have been

aggressive, if they have results, I'd certainly like

to see it.  And I'd like to share those positive

figures.  But for the most part, they just say, "Well,

we're complying with the FAA," which isn't requiring

anything now until 2001 or '2.

            But they are still unsolved.  The rudder

modifications that were announced in January --

incidentally, the rudder modifications that were

announced for the 737 in January of this year, those

were in the final design stages in December of 1992. 

Those design changes could have been made.

            Pittsburgh did not have to happen.  That's

my opinion from the research that I've done through

the years.  They were announced in January.  There's

huge delays.  I have quite a bit of documents here.

            The parts aren't going to be available

until late '98, probably later.  Manufacturers are

already saying, "Oh, just can't do it.  Just can't do

it."  Well, if we can put a vehicle on Mars, we can

put upgraded flight data recorders on 737s and we can

get those airplanes retrofitted for the thousands of

people who fly every day.

            Statistically, the 737 is safe.  However,

in February of this year, the Safety Board issued

quite a lengthy paper that the 737 is less safe.  And

it wouldn't be certified today partly because of that

unique single panel rudder design.

            And, yes, many people get where they're

going.  But I don't consider 585 or 427 an acceptable

margin of error.

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  Thank you, Ms. Dunham.

            Any other questions?

            (No response.)

            CHAIRMAN MINETA:  If not, let me thank the

panel very, very much for their presentation here

today.  All right.  We will now break.  And the

Commission will reconvene at 1:00 o'clock.

            (Whereupon, a luncheon recess was taken

            at 11:45 a.m.)

          A-F-T-E-R-N-O-O-N  S-E-S-S-I-O-N

                                         (1:14 p.m.)

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Let us reconvene

our public hearing.  I should note that our Chairman,

Norm Mineta, had a very significant previous

commitment, although I really think he just got

reintroduced to sitting in this chair.  And I'm not

sure how he reacted to that.

            So, unfortunately, he won't be with us

this afternoon but asked us to send his regards to

each of you who have signed up to participate in the

hearing and expressed his appreciation for your

involvement.

            The first panel consists of now five

panelists:  Michael Fanfalone from the Professional

Airways Systems Specialists; Ed Wytkind, Executive

Director of the Transportation Trades Department of

the AFL-CIO; Captain Mike Cronin, Chairman of

Legislative Affairs from the Allied Pilots

Association; Captain Bert Yetman, President of the

Professional Pilots Federation; and, one who is not on

our list, John Lewis, Operations Manager from the

Professional Aviation Maintenance Association.

            So, again, we're delighted to have all of

you here.  I think that it would be useful for us just

to go in -- there's no particular order, but why don't

we go in the order that we have?  Mr. Fanfalone, would

you mind starting off?

            MR. FANFALONE:  Thank you.  Good

afternoon.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Excuse me. 

Before I do that, I have failed to inquire.  We have

a sign interpreter here, and I've been asked to

inquire as to whether anyone in the audience needs the

services of the sign interpreter.

            (No response.)

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  If not, again,

thank you for your availability of your services.

            I'm sorry, Mr. Fanfalone.  Do you want to

continue?  Thank you.

            MR. FANFALONE:  Thank you.

                     PANEL 3:  

      PROFESSIONAL AIRWAYS SYSTEMS SPECIALISTS

            MR. FANFALONE:  My name is Mike Fanfalone. 

I'm President of the Professional Airways Systems

Specialists, PASS.  Seated next to me is Mr. Len

Scott.  He's the Regional Vice President for PASS

Flight Standards Unit.  Thank you for inviting PASS to

testify today.

            PASS provides exclusive representation for

over 10,000 system specialists, flight inspection

pilots, aviation safety inspectors, and safety support

staff employed by the FAA.  The services that our

members perform range from systems maintenance,

installation, and certification to aviation and flight

inspection.

            PASS has a tremendous interest in

assisting this Commission on aviation safety issues. 

PASS represents approximately 2,500 aviation safety

inspectors and clerical employees of the Flight

Standard Service.

            Without a doubt, inspectors are a highly

dedicated and skilled workforce.  Inspectors come to

the FAA already having had a career in aviation.  Many

of your certificated airmen have worked for airlines,

repair stations, training schools, and commercial

operators.  Clearly no single issue is more important

to our inspectors than aviation safety.

            As a result of the ValuJet Flight 592

crash last year, FAA has been scrutinized for failing

to provide inspectors with necessary staffing and

proper training.

            According to the FAA's own staffing

standards, flight standards are still short nearly 200

clerical employees.  Rather than conducting safety

inspections at our nation's airlines, air operators,

aviation schools, and maintenance facilities,

inspectors are forced to spend at least 25 percent of

their time typing reports and letters, answering

telephones, filing paperwork solely because of the

lack of clerical support.

            PASS is pleased that the agency has

requested an additional 273 new flight standard

inspectors and certification personnel for '98.  The

continued imbalance, however, of inspectors to

clerical employees is but one of the staffing problems

facing flight standard; in others, management's

failure to place inspectors with the right skills in

the right flight standards district offices.

            Just as important as inspector staffing is

training.  The two areas go hand in hand.  In recent

years, the FAA has failed to meet its own training

requirements due to a failure to target sufficient

funds for inspector currency and training.

            There are four types of training programs

taught that ensure that inspectors are current and

proficient.  They are:  formal training, on-the-job

training, industry-conducted contract training, and

operator-conducted training.

            The formal training conducted by the FAA

usually occurs in Oklahoma City.  Unfortunately, this

type of training needs to be improved in order to

prevent core shortcomings.  The instructors are former

field inspectors who have lost touch because they have

been teaching for six to ten years without returning

to the field for practical experience.  In addition,

the materials used to teach the inspectors are often

outdated.

            On-the-job training conducted by the FAA

appears on the surface to be a cost-effective method

of training.  However, it has not been FAA policy to

require inspector instructors to have any formal

training in teaching techniques nor to demonstrate any

competency in the subject to the taught.  In fact, in

one district office, new hires were trained by an

inspector with less than two years' experience in the

FAA and no training background other than being a

flight instructor.

            Furthermore, on-the-job training takes

qualified inspectors away from their daily duties of

inspecting and performing safety-related tasks.

            The industry-conducted contract training

is the best out of the four training methods. 

Inspectors believe that industry-conducted training is

valuable because it keeps them current with the latest

technologies and is the most professional training

inspectors receive.  Unfortunately, inspectors do not

receive enough formal industry-conducted contract

training.

            The operator-conducted training is

developed by the operator for its own flight crew

members.  It is excellent training.  However, it is

not appropriate for inspectors.  Operator-conducted

training creates a conflict of interest that is

detrimental to aviation safety.

            In order to get the training free of

charge, the FAA has made deals with operators in the

form of memorandums of understanding and agreements. 

Operator-conducted training is often traded for a less

intensive enforcement program.  Inspectors are trained

and flight-checked by the very personnel they are

charged to oversee.

            Another issue which is important to flight

standards is the inspector's role in the overall

flight safety and the enactment of Public Law 104-50. 

Under Public Law 104-50, the powers and functions in

the Merit Systems Protection Board to hear employee

appeals are no longer applicable.  This is

particularly undesirable to many inspectors.

            The business of safety requires inspectors

to make judgment calls.  Inspectors are apprehensive

about their own careers or well-being and will be less

likely to make hard decisions.

            An unintended consequence of Public Law

104-50 is the broad preemption of Title V, as it

pertains to whistle-blower protection.  Under the

whistle-blower protection, which states that an agency

is prohibited from taking a personnel action against

an employee for engaging in whistle-blower activities.

            However, the MSPB is no longer applicable

to the FAA.  Employees with complaints about

retaliation or whistle-blower activity should now file

a complaint with the Office of Special Counsel with

the Department of Transportation.

            PASS feels that FAA employees have been

deprived of an important safeguard which is available

to all other federal employees, that of the MSPB. 

Again, without the assurance of MSPB protections,

inspectors will be wary to speak out and to report

safety violations.

            PASS also represents employees of Aviation

System Standards, AVN.  These employees are

responsible for the design, development, and flight

inspection services for ground and space-based

navigation systems at more than 3,000 instrument

airports in the United States and numerous airports in

46 foreign countries.

            What has become an increasing concern for

PASS are the staffing levels and training of pilots,

air crew technicians, aircraft maintenance

technicians, and procedure development specialists.

            Never has the expertise of these people

been more important and critical to the NAS.  However,

custom personnel and training funds come at a time

when the NAS has experienced an abundance of

technological changes.

            The aviation community is clamoring for

AVN to apply these new technologies, including a

minimum of 500 new GPS procedures annually.  This

creates an ever-increasing demand in an

already-understaffed workforce.

            In addition, training on new guidance or

criteria due to design and flight inspection

procedures is not available because there are little,

if any, funds.  Increase in staffing and training

dollars for critical positions is needed to support

the demand for a safe and certified instrument flight

environment by all user groups.

            The airway facility systems specialists,

also known as technicians, form the backbone of the

FAA's air traffic control system.  Their primary

duties are the maintenance, repair, certification, and

operation of the system.  In fact, system specialists

are the only people authorized to certify the

operation and safety of the facilities and return

systems to service.

            Despite the increasing demands on the

system and on the specialists, staffing levels within

the AF workforce had fallen disastrously low.  In

1981, 11,600 specialists were responsible for

maintaining approximately 19,000 FAA facilities and

equipment.  Today there are only 5,888 specialists to

maintain over 40,000 facilities and equipment. 

Currently the FAA is only staffing at 65 percent of

their own staffing standard.

            As a result of staffing shortages, morale

is at an all-time low.  Overtime has increased.  More

outages are occurring.  Restoration times have grown. 

Open watches are commonplace.  And contractor

maintenance costs have skyrocketed.  In addition, over

35 percent of the workforce is eligible to retire.

            If just one-fourth of the overhead in AF

-- and overhead is defined as support, managerial or

supervisory support, not directly engaged in NAS

maintenance.  If just one-fourth of that overhead were

converted to the true maintenance workforce, it would

mean some 850 more employees who are already on the

rolls would be available to help maintain the NAS.

            In 1994, the FAA completed the national AF

realignment plan.  The net result of this realignment

would have been to place some 1,100 supervisory

personnel into hands-on safety-related positions.

            Also, as part of the realignment, AF was

to accomplish a nationwide business process

reengineering effort to streamline the work processes,

which would have enabled more employees to work

efficiently with fewer supervisors.

            Two events occurred in 1995 which

prevented any efficiency or productivity gains.  First

and foremost, AF failed to properly fund or support

the BPE effort.  And, therefore, work processes were

never streamlined.  This was key because, secondly,

the buyout legislation of 1995 resulted in over 600 AF

supervisors and managers leaving the agency.

            Because of this, the 1,100 supervisors

were not returned to the workforce.  This was just one

example of how the FAA continues to misuse its

resources.

            With the staffing at 65 percent of their

standard and between 30 and 40 percent in overhead, it

is no wonder that specialists cannot be relieved of

system maintenance duties to either provide training

for others or to be training themselves.

            Unfortunately, staffing shortages and

training deficits have forced the FAA to use contract

maintenance, which has proven to be a more expensive

and a dangerously inefficient alternative to FAA

maintenance.  Not only is contracting out more

expensive to the agency, it is also counterproductive

to the agency's mission.

            Even the House Appropriations Committee in

their report accompanying the Fiscal '98 Department of

Transportation appropriations bill stated that the FAA

could be more efficient with its scarce resources if

in-house maintenance personnel were utilized to a

greater percent relative to contractor maintenance.

            Our specialists work with the NAS

equipment every day and are the only people who can

certify the systems.  We understand the need to

exhibit caution and to communicate with others before

performing any maintenance on a system.  They have a

proven track record while private contractors often

have failed to measure up to the same higher

standards.

            Given that the FAA itself admits that the

overall cost versus benefit of contracting out cannot

be determined and that the performance of contract

technicians is not being adequately monitored, it is

impossible to explain why the FAA would want to hire

contractors, instead of hiring and training permanent

specialists.

            These tasks should not be delegated to

private contractors for the same reason that the

government would not hire private contractors to

inspect drugs for public safety, to inspect buildings

for code compliance, or to safeguard the environment.

            PASS and its members are dedicated to

promoting air safety.  As the exclusive bargaining

unit representatives for airway facilities, flight

standards, and aviation system standards employees,

PASS is uniquely positioned to serve as a meaningful

partner in making the FAA more productive and

responsive to technological changes and in keeping the

NAS the safest in the world.

            In short, the FAA needs to better utilize

its resources, increase its technical and support

staff workforce, reduce its reliance on contractors,

train its employees, and commit to working with PASS

as a business partner, rather than an adversary, to

meet the challenges of the Twenty-First Century. 

Otherwise, the quality, the efficiency, and the safety

of the air traffic control system will be seriously

compromised.

            PASS respectfully requests that the

Commission consider including PASS' recommendations in

its report to the Congress.  Thank you.  I'd be happy

to answer any questions you may have.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you very

much.

            What I think we will do is hear from the

other panelists and then save additional time for

questions.  So there will be questions, I assure you,

but let's move through and ask Mr. Wytkind to make his

presentation.

            MR. WYTKIND:  Thanks.  I appreciate that.

      TRANSPORTATION TRADES DEPARTMENT, AFL-CIO

            MR. WYTKIND:  My name is Ed Wytkind.  I am

the Executive Director of the Transportation Trades

Department, which represents 29 unions in the

transportation sector, including all of the aviation

unions.

            I want to first thank the Chairman, whom

I know is not here; the Vice Chairman, whom last time

I saw him, he was in another easy job as general

counsel of a small agency called the DOT.  I have to

note for the record, though, that when the bells

started ringing, you looked so comfortable in the

chair I thought you were going to call a recess for a

vote.

            I also want to say I'm happy to see Mary

Kay Hanke and John O'Brien, who represent two of the

prominent aviation unions in our department and I know

are doing an important job to help the Commission.

            I will summarize my comments.  I have

submitted a more comprehensive statement.  As the

Commission can imagine, there are countless safety

issues of importance to aviation labor.  In the

interest of summarizing, I will focus on just a few of

the issues that I believe speak to the core of the

Commission's mandate.

            Congress charged this Commission with

making an assessment of the FAA's ability to deal with

fraudulent part problems.  One of our priorities is to

change FAA Regulation Part 145, referred to as FAR

145, which permits unnecessary, possibly substandard

foreign aircraft repair stations to get agency

certification with unlimited capability.

            This, in turn, has made the fear of

fraudulent part use greater as the FAA's already

overburdened domestic system for policing bogus parts

become globalized with inadequate rules and inadequate

resources.  The regulatory problem was created in 1988

when the FAA changed the criteria that it uses to

determine whether to certify foreign stations to work

on U.S. aircraft.

            Before these changes took effect, a

foreign station could only get certified if it

demonstrated a legitimate need to service aircraft

engaged in our booming international aviation sector.

            As such, stations would certify that we're

essential to support our network overseas.  But their

number was limited to reflect demand and to reflect

already scarce FAA resources that were available.

            In addition, FAR 145 ensured that to the

extent possible U.S.-registered aircraft were repaired

by mechanics meeting the highest standards of aviation

safety in the United States.  But today a foreign

repair station can get certified, even if there is

little or no international travel expected to that

city or country.

            This means that an aircraft flying between

Washington, D.C. and Chicago, for example, can end up

in Costa Rica or Turkey or Mexico to receive regularly

scheduled maintenance and overhaul work.

            It's important to note that there have

been some on Capitol Hill and in town here who have

suggested that if a crippled 747 finds its way to a

foreign destination, that it would have to fly back to

the U.S. to become repaired.  And that just doesn't

reflect the facts, doesn't reflect the reality of how

the rules operated before 1988.  And the legislation

pending before Congress, which we'll talk about in a

minute, continues to accommodate those situations.

            The results of the regulatory changes in

'88 were very predictable.  Since that time, the

number of facilities has soared as they have grown

throughout the world to attract lucrative U.S. carrier

business.  The problem is that the FAA does not

require these foreign stations to meet the same safety

standards that domestic stations must follow.

            For example, while U.S. mechanics must

undergo drug and alcohol testing, no such comparable

requirement exists in foreign countries in which

U.S.-certified stations do business.

            In addition, at a domestic station,

supervisory and inspection personnel must be certified

by the FAA.  Yet, a foreign station can operate

without the same type of certified employee.

            This problem is further complicated by the

fact that with the dramatic rise in the number of

foreign stations, the ability of the FAA to adequately

oversee and supervise these facilities is being called

into question.

            In the wake of the ValuJet accident, many

question the effect that contracting out maintenance

work was having on our ability to maintain the highest

level of safety.

            The NTSB, as you all know, concluded that,

quote, "contributing to the accident was a failure of

the FAA to adequately monitor ValuJet's heavy

maintenance program and responsibilities."

            With the challenges facing the FAA

regarding its responsibilities to oversee domestic

facilities, it makes no sense to exacerbate the

problem by sanctioning a regulatory scheme that

permits the unnecessary certification of facilities

that, in practice, are not getting the kind of

surveillance that they need.

            Also troubling is the fact that while FAA

inspectors charged with overseeing these facilities

are dedicated professionals, they face a number of

challenges outside of their control.

            For example, most stations, foreign

stations, only receive a visit from a U.S. inspector

once a year for the purpose of recertification.  This

visit is usually announced well in advance, giving

that station ample time to take whatever necessary

actions are needed to pass the inspection.

            There is little guarantee that the foreign

station will maintain its high level of preparedness

in between inspections, and there's every opportunity

for that station to slip into a worse state than

detected during that inspector's visit.  This leaves

a lot of potentially unsafe foreign facilities

unchecked at any given time.

            U.S. stations, on the other hand, are not

subject to yearly recertification visits.  The FAA

inspector assigned to that area can and does simply

stop by, sometimes unannounced, to ensure that FAA

standards are being fulfilled.

            In other words, while our facilities in

this country normally and typically encounter FAA

authorities on their property on a regular basis, a

typical domestic station to have that contact is

totally in a double standard situation where the

foreign station does not have the same kind of visit. 

And, therefore, we're applying a double standard that

should be stopped.

            A partial solution is to limit the number

of those foreign stations to those that are genuinely

needed.  We don't in any way take issue with the ones

that are needed.  We have told the employers in the

airline industry that this is an international airline

sect that we're dealing with.

            What we're trying to do is stop

unnecessary facilities.  We're not trying to stop the

regime that's out around the world to perform the

needed maintenance that occurs out there, particularly

when you have emergency situations and other

unforeseen maintenance needs.

            The action alone of minimizing these

stations will minimize exposure to poorly regulated

stations that encounter the bogus parts that we're all

concerned about.  There is legislation on Capitol Hill

pending that we all know about.  It's H.R. 145 and S.

1089.  It is bipartisan legislation.  The House

legislation now has almost 150 sponsors.  The Senate

bill now has I believe 13 sponsors.

            That legislation would repeal the 1988

rule changes.  It would level the playing field to

make sure that all facilities worldwide meet the same

standards.  And it would revoke a facility's

certification if it knowingly -- and I underscore

"knowingly" -- deploys the use of bogus parts.

            The House Aviation Subcommittee will hold

a hearing tomorrow.  And we will be presenting

testimony.  I'd note for the record that thus far,

American Airlines is in support of that bill, in

addition to the members of Congress I've mentioned,

almost 160 of them and, of course, thousands of

mechanics and flight attendants, pilots, inspectors,

et cetera, that our organization represents.

            If we're serious about stopping the use of

fraudulent parts and make sure that our aircraft are

repaired and maintained by qualified supervised

mechanics, we should pass this legislation.  And we

strongly urge this Commission to endorse the passage

of H.R. 145, S. 1089.

            A related issue is the pursuit of the FAA

and the JAA to harmonize their respective aviation

regulations.  I know that's been a subject of

consideration in this Commission.

            As this program is pursued, the FAA must

insist that harmonized regulations are the higher of

the two authorities, thus ensuring that aviation

safety will be enhanced worldwide.  Otherwise, this

joint effort will be at cross-purposes with the outcry

in this country for stronger aviation safety

standards.

            We object to the aspect of harmonization

that includes policies adopted under maintenance

implementation procedures, or MIP.  In my statement,

I have highlighted this issue.  And I would urge the

Commission to review it carefully because I think it

speaks to a lot of important matters that the

Commission is considering.

            Regardless of the actions that the FAA and

Congress take on issues dealing whit foreign aircraft

repair, the resources granted to safety inspectors and

other FAA safety-related personnel must be enhanced if

we're going to keep up with the demands of our system.

            We heard from the President of PASS a

moment ago.  And we just want to concur strongly with

his statement.  I just want to add that TTD supports

their efforts to make sure that this workforce he

represents is adequately financed, is adequately

trained, that we stop this double standard where we

apply, on one hand, a standard that says we must keep

our aviation system safe but we do not finance the

needs of this industry.  And that includes the

employees who are represented by PASS who are very

vigilant to try to keep the industry safe but are

simply not getting the support that they deserve.

            A misguided myth that has to be dispelled

in that regard is that contracting-out schemes will

somehow help yield positive results.  We have heard

this before.  The truth is that, instead of throwing

money away in the pursuit of downsizing and

privatization, we should invest our resources in the

workplace, in a workforce we already have and depend

on.

            Savings and efficiency are rarely

realized.  We've seen it in a lot of other sectors we

represent when such schemes are advanced.  And I urge

you to resist proposals for wholesale contracting out

of these important jobs and the services that these

dedicated safety professionals provide to the

industry.

            Let me now touch on a few issues that fall

within the broad mandate of the Commission.  First, we

have a ridiculous situation where there is no federal

law or regulation that prevents an employer in the

airline industry from firing, harassing, or

disciplining an aviation employee simply because he or

she reports a legitimate safety concern.

            Most Americans under OSHA have

whistle-blower protection.  However, because of a

loophole, these protections do not cover workers in

the aviation sector who fall under the broad safety

mandate of the FAA.

            The Gore Commission recognized this

problem and recommended that, quote, "Legislation

should be enacted to protect aviation employees who

report safety and security violations."

            To meet the objectives of whistle-blower,

we have legislation on Capitol Hill by Representatives

Sherwood Boehlert and James Clyburn and by Senator

John Kerry of Massachusetts.  That would deal with the

whistle-blower problem.

            The bill numbers are H.R. 915, S. 100. 

And, simply stated, these bills would empower workers

to come forward with safety and security problems

without fear of employer retaliation.

            You should know that Congress has already

chosen to provide other transportation workers with

whistle-blower protections, in addition to whatever

protections are afforded to them under OSHA.  It makes

little sense to deny workers in the aviation industry

where safety is the number one concern, the same level

of protection we have given to a number of other

employees in our industry.

            We strongly urge this Commission to help

us advance this cause.  And your endorsement of this

legislation will go a long way to dealing with the

whistle-blower problem.

            We also, for the record, would concur with

what PASS has said that with the MSPB problem, that it

was eliminated in F.Y. '96 transportation

appropriations.  We have lost a crucial safety element

in our policy regime in giving FAA employees the same

rights that we are trying to give private sector

employees and which the Congress took away from them

and we believe was an unintended action on the part of

the Congress.

            The FAA also needs to require the use of

traffic alert and collision avoidance system, TCAS II,

in aircraft flown in all cargo operations.  Currently,

as you know, it is mandated on passenger aircraft with

over 30 seats.  And this technology is proven

effective.

            Because aircraft of all sizes and purposes

share our airspace, it makes no sense that the

burgeoning cargo segment of our industry isn't

required to apply TCAS II in their cockpits.

            TCAS II is supported, as you know, by

every pilots' union, including the Air Line Pilots

Association, the nation's largest, and has a strong

endorsement of TTD's Executive Committee, our

governing body.

            Airport safety can also be enhanced if we

can get the FAA to move forward with its mandate as

prescribed by Congress to deal with airport

certification for smaller airport.  It's very

consistent with the one level of safety program that

this FAA has espoused and which we support.  And we

would urge the Commission to help us advance that

rulemaking.

            With that said, I would be glad to take

your questions when we finish with the panel.  Thank

you.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you very

much, Mr. Wytkind.  And, as always, you have once

again proven to be articulate and relentless as you

pursue these safety matters.  And we appreciate your

testimony so very much.

            MR. WYTKIND:  Thank you.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Next we'll hear

from Captain Mike Cronin from the Allied Pilots

Association.  Captain Cronin?

              ALLIED PILOTS ASSOCIATION

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  Good afternoon, Mr.

Kaplan, members of the Commission.  The Allied Pilots

Association fully supports the work of the Commission

and is grateful for the opportunity to express its

views.

            My comments today have been endorsed by: 

the Fed. Ex. Pilots Association; the Independent

Association of Continental Pilots; the Independent

Pilots Association, which represents the UPS pilots;

the International Brotherhood of Teamsters Airline

Division; Teamsters Local 1224, which represents

Airborne Express; and the Air Canada Pilots

Association, altogether 25,000 active airline pilots.

            I'm going to briefly discuss what I

consider the most important unsolved safety problem

from the pilots' point of view in the airline

industry.  This industry has made enormous

technological progress in recent years, but I don't

think we will get to our mutual goal of zero accidents

with technology alone.  Human factors are extremely

important.

            It is well-known in the industry that most

airline accidents are caused by pilot error.  There is

a Boeing study which has been circulated which shows

that there have been only marginal improvements in the

statistics involving pilot error since 1955, the

beginning of the study.

            The rate of accidents caused by pilot

error has declined from 70 percent to 65 percent,

still the largest cause of accidents and, therefore,

the most lucrative thing to be attacked to improve the

aviation safety record.

            I think those statistics, rather than

showing that pilots are at fault, show that pilots, in

spite of technological improvements, remain the most

vital link in the safety chain which holds the airline

industry together.  Therefore, I think it is entirely

appropriate that much more attention be given to the

human factors involving flight crews.

            As I say, the most important issue that

I'm going to discuss today is the rules regarding

pilot scheduling and hours of service.  When an

accident happens and pilot error is found, quite often

that's the end of the investigation.  The next and to

us most obvious question is not asked:  Why would a

pilot make such an error, usually at the cost of his

own life?

            There are several reasons that are

possible explanations.  One, perhaps the wrong person

is in the cockpit.  Perhaps the person in the cockpit

at the controls at that time did not have adequate

training and was not prepared for the situation he

faced or perhaps the judgment and capacity of that

person were diminished by fatigue to the extent that

he was not able to cope.  All three of those could be

the answer.

            Although it is not my subject today, I

would like to briefly mention the subject of pilot

selection and pilot training because they are areas

which I think deserve attention.  You may be surprised

to learn how low the standards are that the FAA sets

for the license which must be held by a pilot who

seeks a job as an airline co-pilot with an established

airline.

            I recently was involved in another forum

which studied this issue, and we did a survey which

concluded that the typical minimum experience

requirement of a major airline is six times the

minimum required by the government.

            Now, in the face of economic and

competitive pressures and with a diminishing supply of

qualified pilots, there is no reason why airlines

could not drop their standards to the FAA minimum,

which is way below what most people would expect them

to be.

            For example, there is no aptitude test to

screen pilot applicants.  The written test, which is

required to gain the license, uses questions which are

in the public domain, which means that anybody who

goes to a two or three-day cram course can pass the

written exam.

            FAA policy seems to be based on the fact

that until recently, most airline pilots came from

military sources, where rigorous training and

screening had already been done.

            This is no longer the case.  Deregulation

has intensified competition.  The military supply of

pilots is much less.  And eventually the combination

of all of those factors will drive the hiring

qualifications down to the FAA minimums unless action

is taken.

            It may also surprise you to know that in

spite of the changes that have taken place in the

industry with bigger and more expensive and larger

airplanes with more passengers, more traffic moving at

higher speeds, that the routine training that airlines

are required to do has actually declined in recent

years.

            Now, that training has been improved in

many respects, but the tendency is less and less

training.  And some of the subjects that have been

introduced by FAA mandate and that have taken up

valuable training time have very little to do with

operating the airplane.

            Now, there is a common thread in all of

these subjects.  And that is we're dealing with

subjective things.  It is always possible to

rationalize that a little less rest is okay, a little

longer working day is okay, a little bit less training

is okay, a few hours less experience is okay.  We can

get by with those kinds of pilots.  But over time the

problems accumulate.  And when you are focusing on

these problems, there is a common thread of analysis

that takes place.

            For example, in the flight time area, many

in the FAA will informally tell you that they don't

have to worry about this too much, even though their

rules are inadequate because it's taken care of by

union contracts.

            Wait just a minute.  Many airline pilots

are not represented by a union.  Second thing is that,

even if the FAA could rely on union contracts to solve

this problem, the FAA doesn't even have copies of

those contracts.  So if it is relying on those

contracts, it doesn't really know what it's relying

on.

            Finally, the FAA is not a party to the

bargaining process.  And even if a group of pilots and

a company under economic pressure, for example, of

impending bankruptcy reached an agreement that was not

satisfactory to the FAA, they have no power to

intervene and abrogate that contract.

            Finally, the pressures of deregulation

involving new entrants and so forth have gradually

diminished the power of the unions to negotiate.  And

all working conditions tend to be driven down towards

whatever the legal minimum is.  That happens to be in

this case the FAA regulations.

            So now for the first time in the history

of this business, the regulations in this area are

really important because eventually, no matter how

hard the unions fight it, those rules will be the

standard.

            Like all human factors, fatigue

measurements are individual and subjective.  There are

gray areas.  There is no postmortem test that can

identify that a deceased pilot was fatigued.

            There has been only one major accident

which the NTSB has found to have been caused by pilot

fatigue, but it is a very significant accident.  It

happened in Cuba, a U.S.-registered carrier landing at

Guantanamo Bay in 1993.

            At the public hearing on that accident,

Dr. Marc Rosekind, a prominent scientist employed by

NASA, who is well-known in the field of human factors

and human fatigue, testified that his review of the

facts in that case indicated to him that the crew was

as incapacitated as if they had been drunk.  And the

reason was fatigue.

            Now, I would like you to note that the

schedule that those pilots kept did not violate any

regulation.  I would also like you to note that the

regulations in effect at that time are still in effect

today without change.

            Now, there is a process going on.  In

1995, at the end of the year, the FAA did propose new

regulations in this area.  The comment period closed

in June of 1996.  Now, there have been no actions

since.  And the point I make here today is that I

would urge the Commission to urge its influence to

have the FAA move ahead with this process.

            It is a difficult area for rulemaking. 

And because it is subjective and there are gray areas,

there are arguments often made why it is impractical

to change these rules.  Some will say that there is

not enough hard science which tells you what the

scheduling practices ought to be.  That simply is not

the case.

            In the APA's submission to the FAA, when

the docket was open, we anticipated that argument. 

And we gathered up a bibliography of scientific

research done in this area, which affects, by the way,

all modes of transportation.  And that bibliography

was about 60 pages of fine print.

            There is more than enough research that

has been done.  At the end of the day, it is necessary

to make some tough decisions that may cost some people

some money.

            But, having said that, I would also say

these are federal rules.  And, although they may cost

some money and they may force certain practices that

are engaged in by airlines to be abandoned, it's an

equal opportunity thing.  There will be a level

playing field.  These are common sense safety rules. 

And they do not harm anybody competitively.

            Incidentally, the JAA-FAA harmonization

was mentioned by my colleague who just testified. 

Because these rules if applied too harshly in the

United States could disadvantage U.S. carriers

compared to foreign carriers, this is one subject

which is an ideal forum for harmonization between

ourselves and other countries.

            We do not advocate any control over

competition, but we do think that the endurance of the

pilots should not be an element of economic

competition.  All parties need to have reasonable

rules that can be understood and enforced.  That is

what the APA seeks, a rule that is supported by valid

scientific data.

            A common thread through all of these human

factors areas is that we have rules often regarding

pilot selection and qualification, pilot training, and

rules of scheduling which were literally written in

the days of the air mail pilots back in the '20s and

'30s.  They have been changed somewhat since but not

nearly enough.

            I would suggest to you with great

certainty that if those rules were written today on a

blank sheet of paper, they would not resemble the ones

we have enforced.  And that is what the APA seeks.  We

would like to see rules put on the books that are

based on the best science available today.

            The current rules are expressed almost

entirely in terms of flight time, which works a

deception on the public because a rule which says, for

example, that you cannot be scheduled for more than

eight hours of flying time in a day and that you must

have eight hours of rest at the end of that period

makes it sounds like a very reasonable arrangement. 

In fact, how that actually works is you must realize

that flight time is only that time when the airplane

is moving under its own power.

            A typical airline pilot in the United

States to get credit for 8 hours of flying time will

have to be on the job roughly 16 hours because time is

required.  You have to report to work, obviously,

before the flight leaves.  There are very few flights

of eight hours in length.  Most of them are one and a

half to two hours in length.  There will be time

between flights.  There will be time after the flight. 

And since the flights themselves are typically one and

a half to two hours and the gap between flights is one

to three hours, to accumulate 8 hours of flying time

in a day, typically a pilot will have to be at work 16

hours.

            Now, then we come to the eight-hour rest

part.  FAA regulations allow all the logistics

involved in the off-duty period, which begins at the

end of the last flight and ends at a short period

before the beginning of the flight the next day.  All

of that time is counted as rest, even though a big

chunk of it is accumulated with logistics of getting

to and from a hotel, eating a meal, and so forth.

            Typically a rest period that short will

result in 5 hours or less in a hotel room followed by

perhaps another day of equal length, 16 hours or so,

on duty.

            Now, to give you a flavor for what the

climate is in the industry, the guts of the consensus

union proposal is that the working day should be

limited to 14 hours and between these 14-hour days,

you ought to have 10 hours off.  That proposal has

been ferociously opposed by the corporations.  Now,

that should give you some idea of what the state of

play is in this business.

            Now, one of the things that the

corporations will often say is that, "Well, nobody

should fly when they're too tired.  That's

irresponsible.  If you don't feel up to the job, call

us.  We'll let you off."

            All scientists who work in this field

agree on two things.  First of all, it is that a rest

period is of no value unless it comports with

physiological factors that allow you to sleep.  You

can't sleep on command.  And if your body is not ready

to do its job, you can't be awake on command either.

            And, finally, every study on this subject

has proven that people who are involved in these

tasks, whether it be truck driving, operating of

shifts or airplanes or railroads, and who are fatigued

are the worst persons to ask if they are fatigued

because the state of fatigue often carries with it the

illusion that you're doing fine.  And the

self-diagnosis of fatigue usually is made only after

you have made a string of unaccountable mistakes or

perhaps even fallen asleep unintentionally.

            Aviation is extremely competitive and only

marginally profitable.  And these regulations will

cost money.  The problem in getting them enacted is

that the FAA is required to conduct a cost-benefit

analysis.

            If you propose a change in these rules,

it's easy to calculate the cost.  It is very difficult

to calculate the benefits because aviation is quite

safe.  And, therefore, you must predicate the benefits

of this regulation based on accidents avoided and

lives saved.

            That requires you to make a number of

extremely difficult judgments.  What is the chance

that an accident will actually be avoided?  What is

the value of a human life?

            These are imponderables.  But I would

suggest to you that the current situation, which is a

requirement to make this extremely difficult and

subjective analysis, allows us to keep on the books

regulations which defy common sense.

            In one area of aviation, it is totally

permissible for a company to keep an employee on duty

without limit.  The number of hours of flight time

that he can fly in a duty period is limited, but there

is no limit to how long he can be kept on duty.

            For example, if you're involved in

international operations and you fly someplace and

that takes three or four hours and the airplane

requires repairs, you can be required to wait however

long it takes for those repairs to be made without

being given an off-duty period and fly the airplane

back to the United States.  That violates no rule. 

There is no limit on the number of hours that a pilot

can be kept on duty in certain kinds of operations.

            Now, this year there was a very laudable

change made to the FAA's mandate.  Now the FAA is

responsible for safety only, rather than being

responsible for safety and promotion of the industry. 

As a matter of practice, however, that has not changed

anything because the FAA will tell you that it doesn't

matter.

            Every regulation has to be preceded by a

cost-benefit analysis which shows more benefit than

cost.  And so we're right back where we started when

the mandate was to promote aviation.

            In sum, I would just like to emphasize

that aviation is and will continue to be a human

endeavor.  And safety continues to depend on human

performance, in spite of the many technological

advances that have taken place.

            We must not allow our very human inability

to quantify human problems to prevent us from enacting

regulations based on the best available scientific

evidence regarding fatigue and human performance.

            Thank you very much.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you very

much, Captain Cronin.

            Our next panelist is Captain Bert Yetman

with the Professional Pilots Federation.  And I think

we all have copies of his testimony.  Please go ahead. 

Thank you.

           PROFESSIONAL PILOTS FEDERATION

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  Captain Yetman,

Professional Pilots Federation.

            I'd like to thank Captain Cronin for his

--

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Excuse me,

Captain Yetman.  Would you mind using --

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  Sure.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Speak right into

it there.  Thank you.

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  I was saying I'd like to

thank Captain Cronin for his perfect introduction to

some of the things I have to say on antiquated rules

of the FAA and the hiring of pilots, lowering the

standard for hiring of the younger pilots.

            In the past several years, we have seen an

increasing shortage of qualified pilots to fill vacant

airline positions.  As we are moving into a period of

escalating airline retirements due to the FAA's

antiquated age 60 rule, the likelihood of an expanded

safety concern cannot be ignored.

            Major airlines have already begun lowering

their hiring standards in order to fill their pilot

training classes.  Initially, the major airlines rob

the regional airlines of experienced pilots, who then

rob the commuters, who rob the corporate flight

departments, who rob the air taxis and Part 91

operators.  Then the problem begins.

            The source of this problem starts at both

ends of the pool of available pilots.  First, the

military has always been the major source for airline

pilots.  These pilots have the benefit of the best

training available at a cost privately trained pilots

cannot bear.

            Now we read of military pilot shortages. 

The military cannot retain pilots when airlines offer

higher salaries and a more stable home life.  The

United States Air Force is seeking an annual bonus of

$25,000, more than double the present bonus, for

pilots remaining in the military.  And, yet, according

to news articles, most pilots would still choose to

leave.  As the military pilot pool dries up, the

airlines are lowering their hiring standards to

whatever is necessary to keep their planes flying.

            Secondly, at the other end of the spectrum

is the experienced airline pilot who would like to

continue his career but is forced to retire,

regardless of health and proficiency, on his or her

60th birthday.

            The FAA and DOT remain unmoving on this

rule to the frustration of other advanced nations, who

have heretofore followed the FAA's lead in rulemaking. 

Those countries were using age 60 simply because the

FAA did.  And who would know better?

            Now the European Union JAA, the FAA of

Europe, has mandated the EU's 15 nations to adopt age

65 as their maximum airline pilot age.  Australia and

New Zealand, after reviewing our FAA rule-justifying

studies, have gone to no age limit.  Canada and Japan

both use age 63.

            ICAO, the international regulations for

185 countries, allow pilots, non-pilots in command, to

fly into the United States until age 65, and our FAA

supports that policy.

            So we end up with a policy that allows

almost every other country's pilots to fly in and out

of the United States using pilots over age 60. 

However, our own pilots, the safest anywhere in the

world, continue to be forcibly retired by our own

discriminatory rule.

            The latest study done on the aging of

pilots versus accidents is the Hilton study,

commissioned by the FAA.  That study was made public

in 1993 and showed that pilots in the age group of 24

to 39 had the highest number of accidents; whereas,

pilots 55 and over had virtually no accidents.  The

charts accompanying the study showed no potential of

increased accidents until age 68 or 69 and then

nowhere near the level of the 24-39 year group.

            The FAA claims pilot incapacitation to be

the unknown factor.  The Civil Aviation Authority of

England in their studies of pilots prior to raising

their retirement age to 65 concluded that a major

structural failure of the aircraft was 10 million

times more likely to occur than a pilot incapacitation

at a critical point in flight.

            Other studies show that 80 percent or more

of air crew incapacitation is gastrointestinal.  In

other words, airline passengers should fear that their

pilot's having a bad hot dog much more than a heart

attack or stroke.

            Although there have been several deaths of

pilots in the cockpit, first officers as well as

captains, there has never been a Part 121 accident or

passenger fatality caused by pilot incapacitation.

            Pilots are required to undergo physicals

and simulator check rides every six months with

unlimited supervisory checks on any flight at any

time.  The two-pilot system works as intended to

ensure that incapacitation is not a safety problem.

            One reason for military pilots' early

departure has been their willingness to sacrifice

their military careers in order to join the airlines. 

Why?  Could it be that after a 20-year military

career, they simply don't have enough years to

complete an airline career?

            One simple answer to the experienced

airline pilot shortage is to get back to the real

world.  It is about time that the FAA acknowledged

that there have been medical advances in the past 38

years since the age 60 rule was promulgated.

            Amend or remove the FAA's age 60 rule to

allow the world's safest pilots by any standard to

have the choice to continue their careers.  The

military pilot would be able to compete a 20-year

career with the armed services and have the

opportunity for a 20-year airline career.

            Right now only political maneuvering

prevents this from happening.  The demographics of the

Air Line Pilots Association, ALPA, are such that, as

the former President of ALPA Henry Duffy once

testified, quote, "Pilots over age 55 comprise only

five to six percent of the total membership.  The

other 95 percent selfishly view the forced retirement

of older pilots as their guaranteed path and a

God-given right to their own early promotion."

            Let me give you a few more arresting

quotes.  In an April 17, 1959 letter from FAA

Administrator Elwood Quesada to the Reverend Theodore

Hesburgh, President of Notre Dame University, urging

Hesburgh to serve on a board to approve establishment

of the age 60 rule, Quesada wrote, quote, "There

exists at present no sound scientific evidence that

airline piloting or any other aeronautical activity

becomes critical at any given age."

            In a November 24th, 1984 letter from Dr.

Frank Austin, the Federal Air Surgeon, to Dr. Stan

Mohler, a former FAA medical staff member, Austin

wrote, "There is no medical basis for the age 60 rule. 

I believe this and Admiral Engen," then FAA

Administrator, "believes this.  It's an economic

issue."

            On February 15th, 1989, Dr. George Kidera,

an original member of the panel promulgating the age

60 rule, wrote, "Granting qualified pilots over the

age of 60 exemptions from the provisions of 14 CFR

121.383(c)," the age 60 rule, "will not compromise

safety."

            In May 1995, an Australian judge who

overturned the Australian age 60 rule stated, "Given

the time and effect expended in America examining the

age 60 rule, it is remarkable to say so, but it seems

to me that none of the cited studies supports any

conclusion about the relationship between that rule

and aircraft safety."

            The congressionally mandated purpose of

the FAA is to provide the highest standards of

aviation safety.  If the congressional mandate is to

be carried out, politics have no place or purpose in

the regulation of safety.  Yet, the age 60 rule,

politically conceived and implemented almost 40 years

ago, is a continuing example of the politicizing of

the FAA.

            The Commission has to ask itself:  Is the

Air Line Pilots Association the ultimate expert on

aviation safety?  If so, how can the Commission

reconcile ALPA advocating the return to the cockpit of

alcoholics, heart patients, and other

pilot-disqualifying conditions, especially those with

known high relapse probability, while steadfastly

supporting the removal of perfectly healthy post-60

pilots from the cockpit?

            There has not been one shred of evidence

in all of the NTSB and FAA investigations and reports

that attribute one accident to the incapacitation of

the crew in Part 121 aircraft operations.  Without any

evidence to indicate there has been or there will be

a safety problem, one can only conclude that the

economic well-being of some union pilots is more

important tan the safety of the traveling public.

            And, finally, let me give you an example

of political influence.  In 1993, the FAA scheduled a

public meeting to gather input for possible change to

the age 60 rule.  A senior captain for a major

airline, upon learning that an influential congressman

was on board, passed a note asking how the proceedings

were going.

            The congressman, evidently assuming the

pilot was anti-change, as ALPA would have everyone

believe, replied, quote, "The FAA was going to have a

hearing on June 17th, I believe, and when I heard

about it, I called Secretary Pe¤a and told him it

didn't make much sense to proceed on this hearing

without an FAA administrator.  It has now been

postponed until September 23rd.  My hope is that with

Administrator Hinson on board, by that time, that we

will be able to cancel that hearing on September 23rd

and put the matter to bed.

            "P.S.  This all just took place the week

of June 1st.  And Captain Babbitt, ALPA President, was

informed about what I had done since he was the person

who told me about the original hearing."  That pilot

was against keeping the age 60 rule and passed the

note on to me.

            Thank you.  And I will be pleased to

answer any questions.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you very

much, Captain Yetman.

            Our next panelist is John Lewis, the

Operations Manager of the Professional Aviation

Maintenance Association.

    PROFESSIONAL AVIATION MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATION

            MR. LEWIS:  First, Mr. Chairman, I'd like

to thank you for taking me at the end of this.  I'll

be as brief as I possibly can and still make my

points.

            My name is John Lewis.  I'm the Operations

Manager for the Professional Aviation Maintenance

Association located here in Washington, D.C.  PAMA is

an association whose purpose is to support and

represent individual aviation maintenance technicians

presently known in the regulations as air frame and

power plant mechanics.

            PAMA was formed in 1972, 25 years ago, by

farsighted individuals who saw the need for bandying

together to promote, educate, represent the aviation

maintenance professional.

            Our membership of some 5,000 includes

mechanics from general aviation, corporate aviation,

and the airlines.  We maintain the nation's fleet of

aircraft from the largest to the smallest.

            The primary goal of the individual

aviation maintenance technician is safety, and that is

why I am here today.  Our members are proud that we

are an integral part of the world's safest aviation

system.  We know and understand the importance and

responsibility of what we do.

            My goal today is to help you better

understand how we fit into the safety system and

inform you of some of our issues, challenges, and

goals.  I will offer several suggestions to make this

safe system even safer.

            There are four things needed for every

successful flight.  First is a well-designed aircraft

that has been tested and found safe.  The second is

adequate fuel to take you successfully to the intended

destination and a little farther.  Third is a pilot

who knows the way, is well-trained, and has sufficient

experience.  Lastly is a well-maintained aircraft that

will not fail.

            Admittedly, there are numerous other

supporting elements also important to safe flight, but

at the very basic level, aviation still comes down to

design, fuel, operations, and maintenance.

            Most aviation mechanics -- I'll refer to

them from now on as aviation maintenance technicians,

or AMTs -- work under harsh and demanding conditions. 

The entry-level pay is very low compared to many other

fields with comparable skill and experience

requirements.

            We are subject to the wind and the

weather, the regulations, inconsistent FAA oversight,

employers who pay a lot of attention to the bottom

line, follow system manufacturers' instructions, and

a host of other vagaries.  We maintain, repair,

overhaul the aircraft you fly.

            The term "aviation maintenance technician"

is embodied in a proposed regulation currently winding

its way through the regulatory labyrinth within the

FAA.  This proposed regulation is called FAR Part 66. 

And it affects us in a number of ways.

            With the enactment of the regulations, our

job title will change from air frame and power plant

mechanic, or A&P to AMT.  It will become more

challenging to become a licensed AMT.  And the FAA

will be required to maintain a current registry of

active AMTs.

            The proposed regulation has been under

consideration in active development for over ten

years.  PAMA has been involved throughout this

ten-year process, most recently through the ARAC, or

the Aviation Rules Advisory Committee.  We are

awaiting the release of the notice of proposed

rulemaking for this FAR.

            The final development of the proposed rule

was a product of ARAC.  It contains some controversial

elements that were not resolved during the process. 

I know you were familiar with ARAC.  We believe it is

a good process and with a few process improvements

could even be better.  It is not without problems. 

But involving the aviation community in rulemaking is

preferable to the past when the FAA only listened to

a few well-placed advocates.

            There are two governing factors in the

proposed FAR rule that affect safety and AMTs.  The

first is a new requirement for recurrent training. 

For years, the maintenance community has debated

whether to require recurrent training, how much should

it be, and what should it cover.

            The ARAC could not come to a consensus

primarily because of the budgetary implications of

requiring such training.  One segment of the aviation

community views the continuing training as an

unwarranted expense in time of rising costs.  The

airlines view it as a necessary expense.  So the

aviation community was and is split.

            PAMA is unequivocally in favor of

recurrent training for all AMTs maintaining aircraft. 

Just as you in your profession continue to receive

some manner of training, whether required or not, most

professional AMTs obtain recurrent or in-service

training.  Either our employers require it, the fast

pace of technology requires it, or our own desire for

professional improvement requires it.  With improved

safety as our focus, we want the rules to require it.

            The need for continuing education in a

changing technical environment is hardly debatable. 

Of course, we need to continue to discuss how the

training is implemented and how much and what should

it be, what is required.  There is no doubt that

additional training will make this safe system safer. 

There must be a minimum amount of standard training. 

And it must be required of all AMTs maintaining

aircraft.

            The education and training requirements to

maintain aircraft is extensive.  To become a licensed

AMT, we must receive approximately two and a half

years of classroom and practical training in all

facets of aviation maintenance.  This training is

conducted by the approximately 200 FAA-approved

schools and universities nationwide.

            We are skilled in pneumatics, hydraulics,

metals, engines, both turbine and piston and turbine,

occlonics, fluids, metal fabrication, wood, fabric,

math, science, English, physics, and the regulations,

and a host of other subjects.  Before we can practice

our trade, we must pass nine tests:  three written,

three practical, and three oral.

            At the conclusion of this education and

certification process, we are granted the authority to

return aircraft to service or, in lay terms, turn it

over to the pilot as safe to fly.

            Beyond this, the FAA places restrictions

on us to ensure that we do not have this authority

right out of school or without reasonable levels of

experience.  At least once we must have done the work

before or operated under the supervision of someone

who has.

            The lack of a requirement for continuing

in-service training of all AMTs is a big void in the

regulation.  This Commission must stress the need for

it to the leaders responsible within the FAA.

            The second major area affecting safety is

the lack of a census of licensed AMTs.  The FAA issues

us a certificate and then does not maintain the

records.

            The database of AMTs in Oklahoma City is

so out-of-date that the FAA has no idea who, where, or

what we are doing.  For instance, if you asked the

administrator to show you how many active AMTs there

are out there fixing aircraft, they will tell you they

have 329,000 licensed mechanics on the books.  This

includes Orville and Wilbur Wright and a few others

that will never lift a wrench again.  Our estimate is

that only 120,000 licensed AMTs work on aircraft

regularly.

            The lack of a valid database is not

acceptable.  The FAA has a duty to maintain the

current list of active aviation maintenance

technicians.  This duty goes hand in hand with a

requirement to license.  The FAA blames the budgetary

shortage for not maintaining the database.  I believe

it is something more fundamental.

            The FAA often has trouble implementing a

new policy unless the safety issue is patently

obvious.  Unfortunately, this means that many safety

issues must lead to a death before they are addressed. 

I believe that the database of active AMTs has not yet

materialized because you cannot show a direct link to

a specific number of fatalities.

            Knowing who is working on the aviation

aircraft is a basic function of the aviation licensing

process.  Today the FAA cannot tell you if convicted

drug dealers or international terrorists are

maintaining the aircraft you fly.  Apart from the

security concerns, the FAA does not have the ability

to disseminate technical safety information to every

active AMT.  Let me give you an example of why the

database is necessary.

            Recently an airliner was brought down by

packing oxygen generators in an unapproved way.  Since

that time, I have been told that after all the

publicity, as many as 15 additional incidents of

improperly shipped oxygen generators have occurred. 

The FAA should have sent warnings to every active AMT,

but they cannot reach them directly.

            Proposed Part 66 calls for a

reregistration of the aviation maintenance technical,

but this rule has been under active development for a

score of years.

            A number of FAA administrators committed

to PAMA that the database would be kept current.  But

to date, not one has had the ability to carry out that

promise.

            If this item is not in the FAA budget, I

hope you agree with me the necessity for a good,

current census of aviation maintenance technicians is

necessary.

            Thank you for the opportunity to talk with

you today.  I have summarized two areas of central

safety improvement.  They are not Earth-shaking, but

both affect fundamental areas of safety.  Again, they

are recurrent training for all AMTs and the ability to

send safety information to every active AMT.

            PAMA is prepared to assist you with the

development of any proposed regulatory language and

help you in any way we can.  I'm prepared to answer

any questions and thank you.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Mr. Lewis, thank

you.  To all of you, please accept our appreciation. 

And as we go through questions, Mr. Scott, please feel

free to help out your colleague there, Mr. Fanfalone,

and we're glad you could join us as well.

            Questions from the Commission?  Ms.

Gittens?

            MS. GITTENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

            I believe this question is for Captain

Cronin, who discussed the issue of hours, pilot

working hours.  I know this issue has been debated and

been going on for a long time.  At some point, there

were discussions in the trucking and rail and other

parts of other industries, particularly transportation

industries.

            Could you enlighten us and bring us

up-to-date on what, if any, standards or studies have

been done in some of these other industries?

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  Numerous studies have

been done.  To start with the basics, each of the four

modes of transportation has its own statute or

regulations.  The railroad working hours are

controlled by a statute which limits railroad

employees basically to 12-hour shifts maximum.

            The maritime industry has also controlled

hours by statute after one of the oil tanker crashes

that happened some years ago.  And they also have

limited-duty periods and required rest periods.

            The trucking industry is controlled by a

set of regulations that theoretically limits a driver

to eight hours' driving time a day.  Well, that may

not be correct.  I'm not sure exactly what the

regulations provide.  And, of course, in our industry,

we have FAA regulations.

            One of the points I failed to mention in

my testimony is that very clearly, the FAA

regulations, although four sets of standards, is the

weakest.

            There is a big problem in the trucking

industry because there are so many independent

truckers that the regulations that are on the books

are almost unenforceable because you can't get to

every individual, although you may be able to

discipline a company.

            And so in the trucking industry, there

might be a problem with the regulations, but there is

a major problem with enforcement.  Drivers are

required to keep log books so that they can show that

they are in compliance with the regulations.  But my

understanding as an outsider is that those log books

are frequently falsified.

            That's not a problem in the airline

industry.  Usually the records are kept pretty

straight.  The problem is the rules are very weak.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Mr. Lexton?

            MR. LEXTON:  Yes.  I had a couple of

questions.  Mr. Fanfalone, you went through a whole

list of problems that you see that are either

FAA-caused or as a result of problems in the industry,

many of which could be solved with more money or more

people, under-staffing, that sort of thing.

            Are there particular recommendations that

you would suggest to rectify some of these problems

that don't involve more money or more people?

            MR. FANFALONE:  Part of our contention is

that there are people.  And they're currently on the

rolls.  They're just not necessarily in the right

place to do the work.

            We want to put the workers where the work

is.  And running an organization with nearly 40

percent overhead in a safety-related industry just

doesn't make sense to us.  If we had state-of-the-art

recordkeeping and reporting procedures, that amount of

overhead is totally unnecessary.

            Many of those who are in overhead

positions are or had been system-certified.  They

could easily go back into maintaining the NAS.  And if

just a fourth of them were to do so, we'd get 850

people who are currently on the rolls.

            So I don't think it's a question of adding

money or people.  It's a question of:  How are

resources truly allocated?

            MR. LEXTON:  Are there particular

recommendations, though, then, that you would like us

to support?

            MR. FANFALONE:  PASS is in support of a

business process engineering effort nationwide, is in

support of updated state-of-the-art recordkeeping and

reporting systems, and to truly do a realignment that

puts workers back where the work is, yes.

            MR. LEXTON:  Okay.  Thank you.

            And, just as a matter more for my

clarification, clearly there is, Captain Yetman, in

your testimony about the age 60 rule not consensus

amongst the various pilot organizations relative to

this rule.  What pilots does your organization

represent versus ALPA versus Allied Pilots

Association, just so I know who is what?

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  The Professional Pilots

Federation has members from APA.  They have members

from ALPA that are also our members.  The word that's

put out by ALPA when they say they represent 46,000

pilots, they don't.  They're not speaking for 46,000

pilots.  They're speaking for their board of

directors, who has that policy in effect.

            America West Airline, which is an ALPA

member airline, their airline, their pilots voted 90

percent to do away with the age 60 rule and asked ALPA

to pass a resolution to that effect to change their

policy.  ALPA tabled it and won't talk about it.  It

happened with Mesa Group Airlines the same way.

            I don't know how many of ALPA's pilots --

they've never had a poll of their pilots -- want to

keep the age 60.

            MR. LEXTON:  So pilots could be members of

both associations, your association and ALPA?

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  Yes.

            MR. LEXTON:  And why would one join your

association?

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  Because the pilots do not

want to keep the age 60 rule.  That's our only goal,

to get rid of the 60.

            MR. LEXTON:  I see.  Oh, I see.  Okay. 

And then --

            MR. WYTKIND:  Could I respond to your

question as well?

            MR. LEXTON:  Sure.

            MR. WYTKIND:  I think it's important to

state for the record a very important factor, and that

is to suggest, as my colleague on this panel says, if

the airline pilots represent only their board of

directors, I don't know a more forceful, a more

powerful advocate in Washington for safety for a

strong airline industry than the Air Line Pilots

Association to suggest that their only mission is to

support their board of directors really contradicts

what I deal with this union on a day-to-day basis,

which is in the trenches in the policy arena.  I just

need to state that.

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  I think my first quote

covered that pretty well from that past President of

ALPA, Henry Duffy, when he said only 5 to 6 percent of

the union is represented and the other 95 percent

think it's their God-given right to a path to a

quicker promotion by getting rid of the older people.

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  If I may make one comment

as well?  I didn't come here to talk about this issue,

but it has been raised with an implication that the

unions don't fairly represent their members.

            APA's position happens to be that we

support the current rule.  And the reason we support

the current rule is because we did an internal survey. 

And although we have some of our members who are also

members of PPF, the survey revealed something in

excess of 80 percent favored retention of the current

rule.  That survey included in its demographics some

recently retired pilots as well as young pilots.

            MR. LEXTON:  And how many members does PPF

have?

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  Somewhere over 3,000.

            MR. LEXTON:  I have one more question for

Mr. Lewis.

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  Can I make one statement

there?  He made it for APA.  I will say I'm from

Southwest Airlines, and Southwest Airlines has voted

85 and a half percent to do away with the age 60.

            The bid defined benefit pension airlines

want to keep the rule because their pilots have a

great pension to go to.  The airlines like Southwest

with no pension, Continental with a minimal pension,

America West with no pension, -- name all the start-up

airlines -- these pilots are not necessarily

represented by ALPA, APA, or any other union.  They

don't want the rule.

            They get a 401(k).  If they can contribute

to it longer, they're going to have more money when

they retire.

            MR. LEXTON:  Okay.  Thank you.

            Mr. Lewis, you talk about the need for the

FAA to establish this database in order to communicate

properly with all of the AMTs and other important

information.

            MR. LEWIS:  They already have the

database.  But the way it works is when you become a

mechanic and certificate, they put your name on the

list.  And that's the last that's ever done about it.

            The database is out-of-date.  So it

contains 329,000 names of people who have been

certificated since about I guess 1934 or '36 or

something like that.

            MR. LEXTON:  Is there anything that

prevents PAMA from keeping that database?

            MR. LEWIS:  Well, we don't have access to

-- our membership is 5,000, a little over 5,000,

members.  These are individuals who contribute and pay

dues.  The unions have many more mechanics on their

rolls than the IAM, who represents mechanics for the

union.

            There would be no reason why we couldn't

do it, but for someone to keep their address and

whatnot up-to-date does require some regulation.

            MR. LEXTON:  Okay.  Thank you.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you.

            Ms. O'Cleireacain and then Ms. Barker and

then Mr. O'Brien.  Carol, go ahead.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  We've looked at a lot

of safety data.  And they indicate to us that the rest

of the world flying, for Americans to fly in the rest

of the world is less safe than to fly here.  And we're

also trying to look at strategies to improve safety

globally.

            And everything we've looked at has told us

that there's got to be more, not less, but

significantly more, interaction between the American

industry and the rest of the world, particularly when

it comes to regulations.

            Now, what I thought I'm hearing from parts

of you, what I think I'm hearing is when the rest of

the world does something differently than we do and

you like it, that's okay.  And when the rest of the

world doesn't quite, we don't like it.

            So I guess I'd like to ask you to step

back because we're unlikely to be reporting on every

issue under the sun.  So I'd like to ask you to step

back and tell us if you have a problem with increased

harmonization internationally, one; and, two, if you

feel you have the level of participation in the

harmonization process that you would like.

            And if you don't, could you think about

ways in which your organizations, many of which have

sister and brother organizations around the world as

well, could feed into this process to make it; that

is, the international harmonization process, to make

it, better?  And it's addressed to everyone.

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  There is ongoing activity

through the Aviation Rulemaking Advisory Committee,

which promotes various working groups that work on

harmonization issues primarily with the JAA.  Point to

remember is the FAA --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  That means you

participate in that?

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  Absolutely.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Okay.

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  The point to remember

here -- and it is open to participation.  There are no

bars to participation.  There are two problems with

it.  Number one, it is an advisory committee.  So

conclusions, studies can be done, conclusions reached,

recommendations made.  And FAA has no obligation to

act on any of that unless it suits their current

agenda.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  And have you found

that to be a problem?

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  Well, there are some --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  A significant problem?

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  Some people would say

yes.  In the one area that I'm talking about today,

the rulemaking process which is currently under

consideration by the FAA largely resulted from an ARAC

forum that pushed the issue very hard.  So we get a

partial success.  A rulemaking was published.  Final

action has not been taken.

            The other problem is that FAA and JAA

together only represent what you might call the more

sophisticated parts of the world where the regulations

are already in good shape.  And the problem is outside

of the JAA and outside of the FAA.

            So the question is:  How willing should we

and the JAA be to take the lead in areas where it will

increase costs and cause a competitive disadvantage?

            There are good efforts going on between

ourselves and the JAA in this field in several areas. 

One that I mentioned today was pilot selection and

training.  They have just opened a working group on

that subject, and I think that is very worthwhile.

            The JAA has attempted to enforce a very

good and comprehensive regulation upon its member

states on the fight time and duty time subject.  I

wish we had that rule in this country.  They don't

have it yet either because the JAA, unlike the FAA, is

a voluntary association.  The only way they can get a

rule passed is through the unanimous consent of the

member states.

            On the flight time and duty time

regulation, which they have put a lot of effort into

and which I think is a very, very good one and would

be a great step forward, there is one state that is a

holdout and has prevented that program from moving

forward.  But it would be a fertile area for

harmonization, absolutely.

            MR. WYTKIND:  Let me try to answer that

question.  We said in our statement that we support

harmonization, but the issues we're debating are not

that dissimilar to the issues we're debating in a lot

of trade policy issues.

            The issues of harmonization are not the

ones we're worried about.  It's harmonizing to which

level.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Standard, right.

            MR. WYTKIND:  And my concern is if we're

going to harmonize, we shouldn't harmonize in a way

that seeks the lowest common denominator in safety

standards.  That's why FAR 145 is such an important

objective for us, which would impose the highest level

around the world.

            It doesn't force them to adopt our regs. 

It just says if you want the FAA seal of approval, you

will adopt our standards.  That's what the legislation

says.  And there is an important distinction there.

            On the second part of your question, I

know that many of our aviation affiliates are active

in that process.  The one point we raised in our

testimony was the MIP, which is a program where they

want to try to essentially certify one another, the

countries, to declare each other's facilities as

meeting each other's standards.

            We have a problem with that at a time when

we can't even maintain and provide surveillance to our

existing facilities under existing regimes.  For us to

now outsource, which is essentially what that would

be, that responsibility to another country when we're

already not providing adequate inspection just doesn't

make sense to us.  It's not a program that works.  And

we ought to first finish the harmonization process

before we outsource the function of oversight.

            I know you had a comment down here.

            MR. SCOTT:  I'm Len Scott, the Vice

President for PASS for Flight Standards.

            As a safety inspector, harmonization, as

my colleague said, was at what level?  When we look at

it, as an inspector, it's:  Is the flying public safe? 

And if it's not safe, then harmonization doesn't meet

our need or what we want.  If it is safe, then we say

let's do that.  Let's make it a standard around the

world, but let's set a very high standard.

            MR. LEWIS:  On Monday, John Olcott, the

National Business Aircraft Association, in a meeting

with Jane Garvey, open meeting with Jane Garvey, made

the point on this issue, several points on this issue.

            One is that he feels -- and he's an

extremely qualified individual in this area -- that

the FAA is not taking the leadership role in the

negotiations that they should.  He also commented that

we have more general aviation business aircraft in the

nine Eastern states than the rest of the world.

            We definitely have an extremely high

interest.  And this is where the action is and that we

kind of wish that the FAA would recognize that and be

slightly more aggressive in representing our interests

in that agency.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you.

            Ms. Barker?

            MS. BARKER:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.

            I would like to address my questions to

the three captains that have all been pilots.  I come

from the part of the industry that's general aviation. 

And so you talked about the feeding chain.  I'm at the

low level.  I like to see all our pilots come up

through and get promoted, but I hate to see them go so

rapidly.

            Right now we're seeing a real demand for

pilots, and that was pointed out in your testimony. 

In fact, they're just moving very rapidly.  With this

rapid growth in opportunities for pilots at this point

in time, -- and you pointed out where all they're

coming from -- I'm curious with the unions why you are

still opposing that 60 rule other than it would be

nice to retire at 60 with full benefits.

            I can't argue with that, but if you look

at the whole industry, we're going to have a real

crunch very soon just to get enough pilots because the

airlines are expanding.  We're seeing a growth, thank

God, in general aviation once again.

            The military is actively recruiting.  In

fact, this summer, we've lost one of our best charter

pilots to the military.  He was very excited, and I

like to see him go.  But if all of the other countries

in the world are increasing the age and hopefully we

are staying healthier and better, other than the

retirement rationale, what do you propose as union

representatives to deal with this shortage of pilots?

            And wouldn't this, changing this rule,

really help that, at least for the time being?

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  The APA opposes the

change to the rule for a number of reason.  We have

safety concerns.  We also have retirement concerns. 

We have many of the concerns that were addressed by my

colleague from the other side.

            I'm 56 and a half years old.  I'm at the

peak of my earning career.  I will be forced to retire

in three and a half years.  But it is also true that

I got here because people ahead of me left at age 60.

            If I turn around now and say, "Well, it's

pretty good.  I don't want to leave," that's kind of

having it both ways.  So there is an issue of

fairness.

            Realize that you can very largely aside

from the safety issues, which are perhaps imponderable

and a matter of opinion in any case, you can largely

determine who's going to be on what side of this issue

by what kind of a retirement program they have.  My

colleague just alluded to that.

            The unfortunate fact is that there are

many pilots in the industry today who are not

represented by union or not represented by a strong

union and don't have a retirement program.  They're

retired at age 60, and they cannot draw Social

Security until age 62.

            I'm much more fortunate.  I have been

represented by a good union.  And my company has

prospered, and we have a sound and fully funded

retirement program.

            To me, sure, I would like to fly a few

more years and rake in the big bucks when I have a

chance to do it.  It took me all of these years to get

here.  Why not keep on doing it?  But the other side

of that is because an airline pilot has to retire at

age 60, he receives a break under the IRS code that

that is not considered for him early retirement.

            So that the prospect is that if the rule

is changed, those of us who are willing to retire at

age 60 and make room for the other guides because of

the tax code may be forced to continue against our

will, for financial reasons.  It's not a simple issue.

            I would also suggest to you that age 60 is

arbitrary certainly, but so would age 62.  That's also

arbitrary.  And in terms of the pilot shortage, I

advocate raising the standards for recruiting and

training pilots.  The pilot shortage is good for

unions because it tends to raise wages.

            Finally, I have been hearing about pilot

shortages since 1965.  They have never actually

materialized.

            CAPTAIN YETMAN:  This one is

materializing.  If anyone has looked at any of the

figures on retirements at airlines, this one certainly

is materializing.

            I think the answer to your question is let

us take the same physicals we take at age 59 and a

half.  And if we pass them at age 60 and a half, let

us continue the job.  If we pass the same simulator

rides we take at 59 and a half at 60 and a half, let

us continue the job.

            If there's a decline in our abilities or

if we develop some disease or something that should be

outside of the parameters of our being able to do the

job, let us retire.

            I mean, there are people who retire for

medical reasons before age 60.  They do have an early

retirement plan in effect at age 55.  My answer to

that is it's semantics.

            I've talked with an American captain one

day who had 89 days remaining, and he said, "Don't

mess with my retirement program.  I don't want any

changes."

            I said, "Well, you can retire any time

your bank account would allow you to retire.  That

doesn't have to be 60 or 55."

            He said, "Well, if I retire at 55, -- I

may be wrong on this number -- "I would only get 80

percent of my retirement pay."

            And I said, "Why don't you call 55 normal

retirement and call 60 retirement with a bonus?"  And

he almost went through the roof.

            You don't want to mess with the older

people's retirement plan who have a great retirement

plan.  But I would guess that most of the membership

in my organization are between 55 and 60, although our

youngest, I believe, is 26.

            We're getting new members from commuter

airlines that have just recently had an age 60 rule

put upon them that they never had before for no reason

at all.  It's not the older commuter pilots that are

having a problem.  If you read any of the accidents,

it's the younger ones coming out of the sky.

            One of my members is a 67-year-old

commuter pilot when the rule was passed.  And they

gave them four years to implement the age 60 rule of

commuters.  So he can fly until he's 71 without a

problem.

            Now, if it's a safety problem, you do it

overnight.  What more can I say?

            The EEOC has been on our side.  They have

written statements to the FAA telling the FAA they're

in violation of the law which forbids discrimination

for age purposes.  What can we do?  We've gone to

court.  We've just had two rulings against us.  And

we're repealing them now, stating that the FAA is in

violation of the EEOC's law.

            The EEOC was put in charge of those laws

in 1968.  The FAA was formed in 1958.  You have to go

to the latter decision-maker.  Let's go with the EEOC

and do away with the discrimination.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Mr. O'Brien?

            MR. O'BRIEN:  Just a request, first, for

the PASS representatives.  It would be helpful, I

think, if you had some specific actions on the part of

the Commission.

            You have several important items here. 

I'd just refer you to Page 8, for example, where you

give a specific suggestion for the Commission

regarding language in the report.  If there are issues

like that which you can be as specific as you had been

for that particular issue, it would help us

significantly.

            For Mike, Captain Cronin, the fatigue

issue, is there something specific that the Commission

can do there?  You talked about the NPRM and no action

on the part of the FAA.  Do you just want a

recommendation that the FAA should act?  What is it

that you're looking for?

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  The notice of proposed

rulemaking that was published in 1995 in our opinion

contained two serious flaws.  One of them was that the

group which advised the FAA on the scientific aspects

of the rule did not have the same definition of terms

as the FAA had.

            A group of scientists advised the FAA. 

And they suggested, for example, that a flight duty

period be limited to ten hours.  Now, they meant by

that the period from beginning of work until end of

work, ten hours.  The FAA interprets that as ten hours

of flight time.  And the FAA proposal was that a pilot

be limited to ten hours of flight time a day.

            Now, anybody that's involved in the

airline industry knows that if you're a very senior

captain working for an international airline, you can

fly a ten-hour flight.  But for most people in the

industry, 10 hours of flying time is going to take you

15 or 20 hours depending on how many flights are

involved and what the spacing is between the flights. 

So there was a definitional disconnect between the

scientific advisory body and the FAA action.

            Second thing was in contrast to all the

studies, -- and I mean all the studies which have been

done of this problem -- the FAA and their advisory

group made no distinction between daytime flying and

nighttime flying.

            One of the constants in scientific

research is that there is a window of time between

3:00 in the morning and 5:00 in the morning when the

typical human being is at his lowest ebb.  And the

advisory panel and the FAA failed to suggest that duty

periods which crossed through that time period be

shortened somewhat.

            We think that it flies in the face of the

science.  So what I would suggest specifically, Mr.

O'Brien, is that the FAA reconvene a prominent group

of scientists in this area, take new information, and

publish a supplementary rulemaking which would address

these issues, and then get on with a final rule.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Ms. Hanke?

            MR. FANFALONE:  If I may?

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Go ahead.

            MR. FANFALONE:  PASS has several

recommendation throughout its submitted testimony that

we would be more than happy to compile in a shortened

list if that would be helpful.  I could highlight a

couple for you in particular.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Please.

            MR. FANFALONE:  For the capital investment

plan, the CIP, that's facing FAA roughly the next 18

years, there's something like $36 billion worth of new

equipment that is in the hopper that is being planned

to be installed.

            We are on the brink of a tremendous

technological explosion, if you will.  Our workforce

is staffed at a level right now that there is no way

we can prepare for tomorrow's technology.  Our

workforces cannot be spared from duty to be trained,

either on today's systems or tomorrow's.

            We are heavy with contractor on-site

installations.  Those contractors should be overseen

by system-certified specialists who understand the NAS

and understand the intricacies of the systems. 

Unfortunately, we can't release our more experienced

people.

            So the folks who are generally overseeing

contractors are the more junior, not trained, less

experienced folks who are basically on site just to

secure gates and secure the facilities, not to

technically oversee the installations.

            We are fearful that over the next decade,

the FAA truly won't be in a posture to maintain the

NAS at a degree of safety that it currently does.  We

want to posture our workforces to be there in the

future to ensure the integrity of the NAS over the

next decade.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you.

            Mary Kay?

            MS. HANKE:  My question is for Mr.

Fanfalone from PASS.  When I was reviewing your

submitted written testimony, I noted that you made

comments on Page 8 regarding the PBO that we had

drafted in our original report.

            I would appreciate hearing your comments,

if you could, on that issue because you state here

that you believe that the AVN is a potential candidate

for this type of situation as well.

            MR. FANFALONE:  Yes.  As I studied the

draft report of the Commission and your

recommendations with regard to a performance-based

organization, our AVN unit has a very solid labor

management partnership.  And we believe that to be

fundamental in order to collaboratively plan and

design a new organization, if you will.

            PBO makes a lot of sense to us.  We think

it puts accountability back into the system, where it

belongs.  We want to be a partner in that arena.  And

we believe that, given the opportunity, the PASS

members and the AVN management could collaboratively

pilot, if you will, a PBO process that we believe

would produce results without bureaucratic oversight.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Could I try to follow

up on that?  It's my understanding -- I'm the

non-aviation person on this panel, but I thought AVN

is part of air traffic control and so the PBO we had

envisaged would have all of the elements of air

traffic control.

            Did you mean that you wanted a completely

separate one for that part of the operation?

            MR. FANFALONE:  No.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  So you're happy with

the way in which we've configured it or --

            MR. FANFALONE:  Well, part of our concern

is while I believe in the intent behind moving toward

a PBO, most of the concern is that the bureaucracy

would take over and that would become another paper

target.

            We believe that we have an AVN unit, both

labor and management, who is sincere and responsible

enough to design a PBO that matches the intent of what

I believe the Commission is trying to establish.  And

given the opportunity to pilot with the proper

oversight, they could design a PBO that would, in

fact, work.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  I see.  You're too

afraid of being swallowed up by something that would

end up being subverted into not the right kind of

organization.

            MR. FANFALONE:  Oh, absolutely.  We've

been looking at programs that on the surface were

supposed to be excellent for 40 years.  And here we

are today.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Mr. Frenzel?

            MR. FRENZEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

            I just wanted to extend the same

invitation that I extended this morning to David Haase

from ALPA to Mr. Wytkind.  The all-cargo industry, of

which UPS is a member, is definitely supportive of

collision avoidance.  We just think that there is a

different way of doing it.

            We held a hearing in this room back in

March.  I believe you testified at that time or

someone else from your group did.  As a result of that

hearing, the Aviation Subcommittee, a bipartisan

effort with about 14 cosponsors, sent a letter over to

FAA saying that we need to get a date certain by which

collision avoidance will be installed.  But they found

our testimony to be worth pursuing, at least

initially, to see if our system can work.

            And we are continuing on in that process

trying to work with FAA and Mitre and other people to

show that the system will work.  And it's open to

participation from any interested parties.  And if

you're so inclined to do so, we welcome your help on

that.

            The second thing I'd just like to ask

Captain Cronin:  In terms of if we were recommend

counting studying the duty time and flight time rules,

how do we address the concern that many people have

raised that:  How do you apply the same concept of

those rules to the pilots as they report for duty?

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  There is no question that

an individual pilot is responsible for his personal

behavior in showing up for work ready for work.  If

that is really a problem, the FAA should act on it.

            We think that -- I know what you're

talking about.  You're talking about commuters.  There

are many commuters in the industry.  And I could go on

about that at length because I've been in this

business long enough to know that commuting benefits

both parties, the corporations and the pilots.

            The pilots get the blame for it.  And the

reason goes something like this.  My company has ten

crew domiciles.  The opportunities for income in

flying move around between those domiciles.  And so do

the pilots.  But paid moves are as rare as hen's

teeth.  You want the money, you want the job, you go

to the base.  If you move, it's at your own expense.

            The temptation is to commute because then

you don't have to move.  Wait a couple of years.  And

that high-paying job may come back to your base.  And

you can continue on as you were before.  And guess

what?  They'll give you enough tickets to make it easy

to commute.  So it's very tempting to commute.

            Both parties are involved in this.  And it

may be a problem.  And I'm not saying it shouldn't be

addressed, but first make the rule such that if I show

up for work ready to work that I can do the job.  Put

those rules on the book first, then address the other

problem.  I'll work with you.

            MR. WYTKIND:  Before you leave, the first

comment made by Mr. Frenzel, I need to know a couple

of things.  First is the technology we're discussing,

we're not going to get into a debate over which one is

better.  What we do know is that the technology that

you all and others are looking at is not going to be

certified any time soon.

            Meanwhile we have a huge burgeoning air

cargo industry, including your employer, that has

aircraft in the sky that don't have the technology. 

Meanwhile it's being deployed in the same aircraft

that's in the sky that isn't all cargo.  It just

doesn't make sense to us to have a double standard

like that.

            To suggest that a process to consider

other technologies is not a good one, I'm not

suggesting that.  But what I am suggesting is that the

current time you could apply TCAS to right away -- and

it should be applied.  The big players in the industry

certain can afford it.  And it will make the sky

safer.  I think that needs to be noted for the record

because the technology we referred to cannot be

deployed today.

            MR. FRENZEL:  Right.  I understand.  And

even if we tried to deploy TCAS, we couldn't deploy

TCAS today either in all of our aircraft because it's

going to take recertification and STCs --

            MR. WYTKIND:  I understand.

            MR. FRENZEL:  -- involved with the FAA in

order to do all of our aircraft.  Our point is

whatever the quirk of history that created the fact

that cargo was not included.  And that was because the

focus was on numbers of passengers and whoever was

responsible for putting that legislation through,

through whatever oversight or however, that's how it

came about.

            What we're saying is that since we need to

put collision avoidance in, we have the opportunity to

do one of two things:  to put in the current

technology, which we know is there and put in the

technology that's based on old technology, which is

radar-based, or we can try to put in this new

technology, which is based on GPS, which is better

enhanced.

            We have had some recent tests of data

links to the system.  And we are ongoing in this.  And

we feel that we are very certain that we can get this

equipment up, tested, and certified in about the same

time frame that it would take for us to go and put

TCAS in all of our systems and also by the time all of

us upgrade to Change 7, which that even hasn't been

fully enforced yet.

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  May I make a comment on

TCAS?  We have TCAS today because the Congress ran out

of patience with the FAA and mandated that we have it. 

That was in 1987.

            At that time, the FAA said, "Well, we have

TCAS II.  And it's okay, but it's not quite ready yet. 

We want to have TCAS III.  When we get TCAS III ready,

we'll mandate that everybody install that."  And they

said, "Oh, it won't be much longer."

            Well, I talked to Administrator Gardner

just a couple of weeks ago.  And I asked him, "What's

the status of TCAS III?"

            He says, "Oh, it's not even on the

horizon.  It's probably not technologically feasible." 

So if we had waited for TCAS III -- and I'm not saying

that the system you promote is not a good one, but

since it's not ready to go, we don't know how it's

going to come out and how long it will take.

            Had we waited for TCAS III, we would have

had ten years without the benefits of TCAS II, even

with its limitations.  I think that it's proven

technology, even though it has limitations, and we

should move ahead.

            MR. FRENZEL:  But the invitation is still

there.  If you want to come and help, I think that

could possibly help the process, I think.

            CAPTAIN CRONIN:  I can see your point. 

And I think we would all benefit from a better system,

but in my opinion -- and it's worth working on and

worth developing.

            But guess what?  It's probably a follow-on

system because in five or ten years when it's ready,

the cost of TCAS II currently installed in the fleet

will have been fully amortized and will be ready for

replacement by a better system.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Any other

questions from the Commission for this panel?

            (No response.)

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Gentlemen, we

thank you very, very much for your focused, thoughtful

presentations.

            At this time we'll take a ten-minute break

and resume for the fourth panel of the day.  Let's

just make it 3:15 and give everybody enough time.

            (Whereupon, the foregoing matter went off

            the record at 3:06 p.m. and went back on

            the record at 3:21 p.m.)

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Let us resume the

public hearing of the National Civil Aviation Review

Commission with our fourth panel of the day.  We have

three panelists:  Bill Stewart, Carol Daniels, and

Captain Michael Baiada.

            We are very grateful to you for being

here.  We appreciate your time and your participation,

look forward to your comments.  You may have heard me

earlier express on behalf of Chairman Mineta his

regards in not being here and also his appreciation

for your being here.

            So, with that, let's just go in the order

we have, which is Captain Stewart, Ms. Daniels, and

Captain Baiada.  Captain Stewart?

                     PANEL 4:  

   AIRCRAFT RESCUE AND FIRE FIGHTING WORKING GROUP

            CAPTAIN STEWART:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman,

members of the Commission, I would like to take this

opportunity to thank you on behalf of the Aircraft

Rescue and Fire Fighting Working Group to address you. 

To give you a little background about the group, --

and I will refer to it as the ARFF Working Group -- we

are a nonprofit organization representing over 1,000

members and in 26 countries.  We exist to promote the

science and improve the methods of aviation fire

protection and prevention.

            We are currently involved in a number of

projects, one of them to include pilot/incident

commander communications to establish a communication

frequency so that the fire chief or fire commander can

talk directly to the pilot.  That's enhancing some

evacuation issues.

            We're also working on a national and

international aircraft rescue fire-fighting

certification program to ensure that all ARFF

personnel are trained to the same level.

            At this time, all ARFF personnel at

certificated airports are governed by FAR Part 139,

"Aircraft rescue and firefighting Operational

Requirements."  This regulation outlines

communications, vehicle readiness, response

requirements, and the training of personnel.  The

problem involves the lack of detail that is found in

FAR Part 139, the vagueness of Part 139.  Many airport

fire departments operate differently and may not be

fully prepared to handle an aviation emergency.

            It is that reason that the Aircraft Rescue

and Fire Fighting Working Group recommends that the

FAA review and adopt the National Fire Protection

Association, NFPA, 402M and 403 to enhance the current

FAR Part 139 requirements.

            NFPA 402M is a manual for aircraft rescue

and fire-fighting operations, and NFPA 403 is a

standard for aircraft rescue and fire-fighting

services at airports.

            NFPA 402M and 403 cover the same topics as

Part 139 and are much more specific regarding

operational requirements.  One example involves the

training of personnel.  Part 139 states that ARFF

training curriculum shall include initial and

recurrent instruction in at least the following areas.

            One topic that I've spent a lot of time

researching is aircraft familiarization.  Part 139

says that we should be initial and recurrent training

on aircraft familiarization, period.  The problem with

that is it doesn't state what we need to know as far

as the different areas.

            NFPA 402M is very specific with regards to

the items ARFF personnel must know to safely handle an

aircraft emergency.  Items covered in NFPA 402M

include the location of fuel, hydraulic and

lubricating oils, seating arrangements, emergency exit

and hatch operations, battery location, and oxygen

storage, as well as various system shutdowns.

            History has proven to us that the lack of

aircraft familiarization has had a direct impact on

aviation, passenger, and firefighter safety.  There

are many other disparities between FAR Part 139 and

NFPA 402M and 403.

            Therefore, the ARFF Working Group

recommends to the Commission that the FAA review and

adopt NFPA 402M and 403 as the aircraft rescue and

fire-fighting operational requirements.  The adoption

of these two documents will enhance aviation safety

and, more importantly, passenger and firefighter

safety.

            I didn't go into it for the sole purpose

of trying to save some time, but also with regards to

FAR Part 139, you can go down the list.  Once again,

airport familiarization.  They don't specify what the

firefighter even needs to know regarding airport

operations, communications.  It goes right down the

list.  But it's just one-word explanations as far as

what airport firefighters need to be aware of.

            402M and 403 are very specific and very

detailed regarding fire department operations.  And to

give you an example, what we're proposing is to

replace basically a page and a half of documentation

with these two documents right here.

            That's all I have.  Thank you very much.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you very

much.  We'll hold our questions until all of the

panelists have had a chance to make their statements. 

Ms. Daniels, would you go ahead?

            MS. DANIELS:  Mr. Kaplan and members of

the Commission, thank you.

            AIRCRAFT TECHNICAL PUBLISHER

            MS. DANIELS:  I welcome this opportunity

to discuss with the Commission a subject which our

company has focused on for a number of years, namely

the critical need in our industry for electronic

maintenance recordkeeping.

            The FAA must take a leadership role on

this subject.  Failure to do so will compromise

aviation safety.  Furthermore, the aviation industry

must take advantage of proven technological solutions

which will benefit this industry.  It just is not

doing so today.

            Aircraft Technical Publishers, or, as we

know ourselves, ATP, was founded 25 years ago with a

mission to enhance safety by providing single-source

aircraft maintenance and regulatory library services

to the aviation industry.

            Our primary emphasis traditionally has

been in the general aviation marketplace.  With 150

employees, our company has become a leading electronic

publisher for the aviation community, servicing over

9,000 customers worldwide.  We understand electronic

technology, and we appreciate what it can do to

enhance aviation safety.

            About five years ago, ATP was approached

by a leading aircraft engine manufacturer to develop

an electronic logbook system, which could alleviate

their burdensome paper-based electronic recordkeeping

systems.

            We have continued to find intense desire

by manufacturers to have a system whereby electronic

records could accompany parts and components

throughout their lifetime.

            Manufacturers also see tremendous benefit

to having the ability to electronically monitor

maintenance-related activities in order to enhance

parts-ordering and maintenance-scheduling systems.

            In addition, FBOs and other maintenance

providers enthusiastically support the concept of an

electronic logbook system which would save them money

and increase efficiency.

            ATP staff members chair committees at GAMA

and NATA which have worked for a number of years to

promote electronic recordkeeping initiatives.  And we

know the need is there.  However, despite this demand,

there has been a roadblock to effective deployment of

electronic recordkeeping systems.

            The problem is that the FAA currently does

not recognize electronic records.  And there have been

no standards established to govern their structure and

use.  In essence, the FAA is mandating that paper

records be utilized at a time when there is a better

alternative.

            Since the late 1980s, the FAA has granted

exceptions and authorized use of maintenance

electronic recordkeeping systems to scheduled air

carriers on a case-by-case basis.  But for the

remainder of the aviation community, electronic

recordkeeping is still not accepted.

            Six years ago, a draft NPRM on this issue

was prepared through the Aviation Rulemaking Advisory

Committee.  And there has been continued work on it

since then, but the NPRM has never been released for

comment.

            Unfortunately, many who worked on this

effort within the FAA have retired or otherwise left

the agency.  And the momentum appears to have been

lost.

            I'd like to take a few moments to discuss

the proposed NPRM and the implications of electronic

recordkeeping.  The NPRM would amend the FARs that

prescribe requirements for maintenance records.

            As currently written, the FARs do not

reflect technology advances which can impact

maintenance recordkeeping and aviation safety.  The

proposal would authorize and encourage but not mandate

the use of electronic recordkeeping systems.  It would

standardize maintenance requirements related to the

transfer of information and retention requirements and

would permit the use of electronic signatures to

satisfy maintenance and certain operational record

retention requirements.

            The benefits of electronic recordkeeping

are many.  One, besides being neat and legible,

electronic recordkeeping will standardize terminology.

            Two, electronic records are far more

secure than paper.  Because they are regularly backed

up, they are almost impossible to alter.  And, of

course, they are much easier to maintain.  Also,

electronic records may be transferred.  So they are

kept in multiple locations.

            Three, without electronic tracking

capability and standardized terminology, the FAA will

never be able to effectively monitor maintenance

activities, including unapproved parts.  There is far

too much data to be handled.

            Four, there will be significant cost

savings by operators and maintenance facilities once

the transition is made to an electronic system.  The

up-front cost for electronic systems will be quickly

recovered through improved efficiencies.

            I believe that we all recognize the FAA

will authorize and finally mandate the use of

electronic recordkeeping.  It would be irresponsible

for it not to do so now.  Unfortunately, there are

serious consequences if action is delayed further.

            One by one, maintenance providers and

manufacturers are developing their own systems.  And

the opportunity for standardization is being lost. 

Without standardization, the many benefits of

electronic recordkeeping will be nullified.

            Two, safety is endangered.  Without

electronic records, the FAA can never do their job as

well as they could.  And maintenance facilities are

operating inefficiently.

            Lastly, further delay is costing everyone

money.  The private sector is poised to develop

electronic solutions as soon as they receive direction

from the FAA.  And once implemented, the cost of FAA

inspection efforts will decrease.

            What should be done?  Please urge the FAA

to immediately release the NPRM and begin the arduous

task of collecting industry comments.  The aviation

community has waited too long.  And it will jump at

the opportunity to provide input on this very

important subject.  ATP would be pleased to offer our

assistance in this process.

            Thank you very much for giving me the

opportunity to discuss this issue with the Commission. 

I know that you have devoted a great deal of your

personal time as Commission members, and you are all

to be commended for your contributions.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you very

much.  And we appreciate the additional material

that's attached to your statement.

            Our next panelist is Captain Michael

Baiada.

            CAPTAIN BAIADA:  Thank you.  I'd like to

thank you for allowing me to speak today.

            (NO ORGANIZATION AFFILIATION)

            CAPTAIN BAIADA:  I come here today on my

own, simply as a taxpayer and user of the FAA's

services.  In fact, I speak for no one.  No one pays

me to be here.  In fact, there's probably a few people

that would pay me to not speak on the other side.

            But, be that as it may, I have 25 years of

experience as a military and commercial pilot.  I am

now a captain for a major airline.  For 20 years

starting in the late 1970s, I worked on ATC, air

traffic control, and airline operations and airline

productivity issues.  I'm here to talk today about the

air traffic control system and its impact on both

safety and economics.

            The FAA is incapable of continuing to

technically manage our nation's ATC systems.  They

have proven time and again that they are unable to

maintain the current system, let alone move it into

the Twenty-First Century.

            MLS and AAS were outright failures that

cost the taxpayers billions.  DSR and STARS are

already experiencing problems, cost billions, and are

less capable than the systems they replace.  If you

doubt my conclusions, GAO, DOT, CNA have chronicled

FAA's continual equipment failures and its inability

to move technology into the workplace.

            The real down side, though, is not

economic in the billions of dollars that are wasted

but the ever-increasing risk to the flying public

caused by the deterioration of what we consider a

flight-critical service:  the separation of airplanes.

            But we're not here to highlight FAA's

well-publicized failures.  We're here to discuss what

can be done to provide FAA's customers more

flexibility; significantly reduce FAA's cost; and,

more importantly, improve safety.

            Although RMB Associates, the company that

I have and run outside of my flying, like all of

aviation, applauds the overall increased safety in our

aviation system, this does not tell the complete

story.

            Sadly, while the safety of the aviation

system rises in general, the safety of the air traffic

control system continues to spiral downward.  Yet,

little is done.

            The increasing risk apparent in our air

traffic control system demands a more rapid solution

than the FAA has proposed or is even considering for

the foreseeable future.  Inaction is no longer an

option and degrades safety in and of itself.

            Regardless of the fact that the separate

of aircraft is a flight-critical function, the

software running in the ATC computers is an

undocumented kluge of patches and fixes installed over

the last 20 years.

            The 10-9 criteria so routinely applied to

aircraft flight-critical functions is not equally

applied to the ATC system.  It should be and must be.

            The aviation community continues to

mistakenly view the reliability of the ATC service in

the same light as a telephone dial tone.  It is always

available.

            But what are the safety and economic

implications for all of aviation if it is not?  We

have already seen this on too many occasions for a

limited period.

            There exists a real possibility for a

major ATC's facility to be offline for an extended

period of time.  This is unacceptable.  Yet, little is

done.

            In 1993, I persuaded United Airlines to do

an analysis of the cost of the ATC system.  The

outcome?  Two billion dollars a year in lost profit

directly attributable to the current ATC system for

United alone on an annual basis.

            In 1994, American Airlines said that their

numbers were about the same.  Also in 1994, our study,

"Free Flight:  Reinvesting Air Traffic Control:  The

Economic Impact," led to a congressional hearing on

the subject, sparked RTA and numerous others into

action, forcing free flight to center stage, and

calculated a minimum five billion dollars per year in

aviation dollars shredded by our antiquated air

traffic control system.  It was also in our study that

anyone first applied the production line analogy to

the movement of aircraft, which I read in your first

report.

            But our numbers, as large as they are, are

only the tip of the economic iceberg.  The actual

losses accrued across our nation are actually in the

tens, if not hundreds, of billions of dollars.

            While safety and economics demand rapid

changes to our NATC system, why not just fix it?  What

are the constraints stopping us from going out and

rapidly solving the ATC problem today?  One of the

biggest roadblocks is defining the problem.

            FAA continues to deal with symptoms,

rather than attacking the core problem.  This is a

result of assuming the following very popular

misconceptions are gospel.  The following are simply

not true.  Runways are the limiting factor.

            I fly into every airport in the United

States and have yet to have been to an airport where

the runway has been full.  Airspace is crowded.  Only

the airspace FAA forces me to fly in is crowded. 

There's lot of airspace out there.  Unfortunately,

because of the system, we can't utilize it.

            Voice communications are so crowded that

data link is required for change.  This is a problem

of the current process, not a problem of aircraft

communications, voice communications.

            The ATC system is a regulatory function. 

It is not.  Flight standards handles that.

            Airlines have no control over the movement

of the aircraft.  In fact, they have chosen not to

control them.  It's not that they can't.

            The users cannot control or direct the

FAA, their supplier.  In actuality, reality, that is

a true statement, again, but that's by choice, not by

regulatory authority.

            These problems which FAA attacks

individually are all symptoms of the same problem: 

our current separation process, the ATC system, if you

will.  You do not represent physical constraints in

any way but constraints of a process.

            Eurocontrol, which manages the European

ATC system, has stated it's widely acknowledged that

a prime limiting factor in current airspace capacity

is controller workload.  GPS, data link, and more

runways do nothing to help the controller.

            Next we must discuss why the ATC system is

so complex.  And I do agree that the current system is

complex.  In reality, we are victims of our own

success.

            The current NAS system was an incredible

piece of engineering and quite elegant by the

standards of its time.  We have generations of

controllers who are trained in the system, its

procedural basis, its response to stimuli, and even

its idiosyncracies.

            Air traffic control is pretty much defined

and embodied in the NAS.  How do we define the

replacement?  Well, of course, the natural tendency is

to build one just like the one we have.  This works

pretty well as long as you're content with what the

NAS does.

            FAA's future plans revolve around new

systems as only incremental changes within the margin

of the current NAS.  Industry spends valuable and

limited technological capital to develop systems based

on generations-old design.  Simply put, the ATC system

complexity is based on the process now in place, a

process developed over four years ago and predicated

on 1950s technologies.

            Although expansive in the extreme, this

system could be maintained for this life for quite

some time.  It cannot, however, grow functionally in

any meaningful way.

            The implementation plan outlined by my

company and the Boyd Group in blueprint to free flight

bypasses these limitations.  The ATC problems we are

now facing can be fixed within three to five years at

no cost to FAA's customers, much lower cost to FAA,

and at the same time significantly improve safety

while providing a free flight environment.

            This is an extremely difficult thing to

believe but a relatively simple thing to prove. 

Unfortunately, even explaining why such a simple

solution could solve so many complex problems at once

has proven difficult at best.

            Expensive avionics and aircraft, including

GPS, data link, does not and will not get the job

done.  The ground-based automation tools that provide

a complete solution to our ATC system problems by

correctly addressing the controller workload issue

include:  computerized conflict probe, which increases

safety and frees up en route airspace, allowing random

path routings.  FAA has already proven that this can

be done with properly processed radar data, negating

the immediate requirement for data link.

            Time-based sequencing, controlled by the

users and made equitable by FAA.  This moves the flow

of aircraft to what we now determine are constrained

hubs and increases arrival capacity, eliminating much

of the very expensive low-altitude maneuvering.  This

is a simple logistics problem that the just-in-time

manufacturing process has solved decades ago.

            Final approach spacing tool.  This

NASA-developed computer tool has already proven at

Dallas-Fort Worth that runways are not the constraint

and has the capability to increase capacity at most

airports beyond demand much of the time.

            Technology is not the problem.  The

nation's air traffic control system has not pushed the

envelope of software and systems technologies.  To the

contrary, with each day, we seem to slip farther and

farther behind the state-of-the-art.

            When aviation compares itself to other

industries, it becomes quite obvious.  To be sure, the

banking industry keeps its money flying free, if you

will, at security levels above and beyond the

requirements of the ATC system.  AT&T networks handle

amounts of traffic that dwarf the numbers of messages

typically moving around the ATC system.

            If there is any doubt about the database

capability, try mislaying an IRS 1099 form for a few

dollars of your income tax sometime.  The point is all

of the technology already exists.

            What does our blueprint offer and why does

our blueprint offer the right solution?  Because it

correctly starts with the operational requirements. 

Safety, unlimited en route flexibility, and maximizing

airport capacity implies the minimum technology to

meet those goals.

            Conversely, our critics, who have yet to

even take the time to understand what we propose,

incorrectly start at the wrong end of the problem,

technology force-fed into the current process.

            The following quotation from

"Reengineering the Corporation" summarizes the mistake

FAA is making.  The fundamental error that most

companies commit when they look at technology is to

view it through the lens of their current process.

            As an example of an FAA program destined

to fail, the FAA recently proposed wasting over $400

million for the Flight 2000 demonstration.  Best case,

this program will prove that every transport category

airplane will require a minimum of one million dollars

worth of avionics to capture the benefits of a free

flight system.  And by the time the Flight 2000

program is complete, the new technology will make it

obsolete.  Why the airlines would even want to prove

they require all of that equipment is beyond us.

            Worst case and the obvious outcome, the

FAA will waste years.  And the ATC system will be

identical today; in fact, less safe.  Given FAA past

failures, this approach is doomed from the outset.

            Our proposal has nothing to do with

privatization.  Neither do we think that FAA capital

funding is or ever has been a problem.  The simple

fact is the FAA continues to waste very large sums of

money buying the wrong things.

            We find it interesting that airline CEOs

are willing to spend their very considerable energy

and time arguing about how FAA collects money and the

ticket tax issue, yet ignore how FAA spends money.

            FAA's current plan to replace the ATC

equipment is analogous to forcing Windows '95 into an

8086 computer.  Given unlimited time and money, there

are probably engineers smart enough to get the job

done, but when you can buy Pentiums off the shelf for

$1,500, the question is:  Why?

            Incredibly, our analysis shows that the

FAA's national airspace plan architecture calls for

future spending of over four million dollars per work

station to handle the en route computers used by the

controllers.  This does not include the R&D required

to design the system.

            Compare this with typical high-end

engineering local area networks of $250,000 per work

station.  Although differences exist between the air

traffic controller's role and the engineer's

requirements, 16 times multiple is a little much for

anybody's consideration.

            Delving slightly deeper into the problem,

everybody has at one time or another bought a personal

computer.  Unlike air traffic control system, which

today are very complex, as I said, the personal

computer represents more or less the lowest common

denominator of technology.  Even so, much to your

dismay, by the time you unpack the box, you probably

saw another one for cheaper, faster, better, for less

than you paid.  The point is obvious:  Technology is

changing at break-neck speed.  That's not a major

revelation.

            If we're not going to be left in the

starting blocks, we need to change, too, "we" being

FAA and aviation as a whole.  The way to do this is

not bigger, better, faster technology but to realign

the development process such that a risk reward and

incentive are used to our advantage.

            The computer technology must be relegated

to a commodity, effectively limiting it from

differentiating among bidders.  As many industries

have already learned, there's the system functionality

that will drive the future.  The focus must be

redirected from the letter of the technical

specification towards the base functional requirement

of an ATC system, the safe separation of aircraft.

            Given the above, the government should

take the responsibility for designing the service,

design the service the system should provide, not the

hardware or software to provide that service.  The

limited amount of NAS expertise that exists should be

used to determine service levels of requirements of

our next generation systems.

            Lower-level operational requirements,

hardware, software implementation details to meet the

specific requirements are best managed by private

industry on a competitive level.

            Private industry then should take the

capital risk for the development of the system that

meets these service needs.  They would supply the

hardware, software, and support.  FAA would manage the

system for safety and provide the personnel.

            There was a time not long ago when the

development of a complete ATC system was so complex

and carried such a liability risk that only the

government could take it on.  We believe that

situation has changed considerably.  More and more

private industry is investing in ATC technologies for

the international workforce.

            Our proposal removes FAA from the

technology side of the equation, an area that they

have proven they simply can't manage.  It allows

industry to do what it does best:  compete, innovate,

and move technology into operations quickly while

allowing FAA to focus on its job:  safety.

            Our proposal also very neatly bypasses the

contentious privatization issue and the politics

involved with that while gaining most of its benefit.

            Can we replace our aging ATC system

completely while increasing safety and flexibility and

providing flexibility to FAA's customers?  Of course,

we can.  Private industry has the technology and the

capital to develop such a system in a very short time.

            If the government will commit to exploring

such a service, a simple screening information

request, which I've submitted in my written material

and I have a copy here, will determine whether or not

industry is willing to take the required steps

forward.  This costs the government nothing and

determines whether what I have proposed is valid or

not.

            Finally, FAA continues to choose complex

over simple, expensive over economic, grandiose over

minimal.  Aviation can no longer afford this path. 

GPS and data link are not requirements for free flight

but, rather, enhancements to.  Safety alone dictates

that we must act faster to solve our ATC problems. 

DRS, STARS, or Flight 2000 will not accomplish this.

            With the continuing degradation of the

current ATC equipment causing a rapid rise in system

risk factor, we must move rapidly to replace all the

ground-based ATC equipment.  Additionally, we must

offload the controller by providing a free routing

system to the FAA's customers.

            This is a tall order but can be done

within three years at a cost to the taxpayers of less

than one billion dollars, what costs slightly more

than FAA's complete Flight 2000 program, which will

accomplish little.  This can only be accomplished if

FAA narrows its focus to safe separation while leaving

technology to private industry.

            In conclusion, the FAA answers to no one

and never has:  not Congress, not DOT, not GAO, and

certainly not to their customers.  Pilots, suppliers,

and, yes, even the airlines are afraid of FAA and

refuse to rock the boat.

            In the end, there really is no leadership. 

There are solutions available today to rapidly fix the

air traffic control system.  We ask this Commission to

rock the boat and force the FAA to immediately issue

a screening information request concerning the

replacement of the entire ATC system and explore

alternative solutions.

            Safety demands it.  Economics demand it. 

And all of aviation should demand it.  Unfortunately,

FAA will not allow this to happen.  This should be

unacceptable to aviation.  It is unacceptable to us.

            Thank you, sir.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Thank you.

            Have you made available to the Commission

a copy of your report?  I know we have your statement,

but --

            CAPTAIN BAIADA:  Well, you have verbal

testimony, which is a little deeper than this.  I'd be

glad to leave this with you if you want.  This is just

--

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  What I'm asking

is the book that you --

            CAPTAIN BAIADA:  This?

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Yes.

            CAPTAIN BAIADA:  I'd be glad to leave it

with you.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Great.

            CAPTAIN BAIADA:  This is just a brief --

we did three studies, again, on our own.  Nobody

commissioned them.  We did sell them to try and

generate funds to at least get paid back something on

the nickel an hour range.

            One was the first one that did the free

flight.  We were the first to bring in economics on

the air traffic control system.  We've always said

that if you could apply ATC as a line item in an

annual report of an airline, we could have had this

problem fixed years ago.

            Secondly, when we delivered that report,

which Congressman Peterson picked up and held a

hearing on in 1994, everybody said, "Well, that's

great.  We can't do it."  So we went back and wrote a

study that says how to do it.

            We recommend specific hardware in here,

but we have no financial connection whatsoever to any

of those organizations.  When you're trying to sell,

the thing is the bottom line.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Appreciate it.

            Questions from the Commission?

            MS. GITTENS:  Mr. Chair, I'm sorry I don't

recall the name of the gentleman who talked about

aircraft rescue and firefighting.

            You talked about what's not in Part 139,

that it's fairly general.  Has your group actually

looked, however, at airports and the extent to which

the major airports do or do not conduct airport and

aircraft familiarization as part of the training for

their firefighters?

            CAPTAIN STEWART:  Well, as I stated

earlier, the problem is it's required but it's not

detailed as far as what they need to do.  I work in

the fire department.  I'm a fire training officer.

            And it would make my job very easy as an

initial and recurrent training if when we get a new

person we walk on the ramp and say, "Well, you need to

be familiar that these are aircraft."

            I take it a step further as well as a lot

of other airports just on our own initiative that we

trained the firefighters on the things covered in 402M

as well as some additional things:  passenger

evacuation, of course, being the most important.

            How do we get into that aircraft if we

have to in an emergency?  And how do we shut down the

aircraft so that no one gets injured coming out of the

aircraft during an emergency?

            There are a lot of things I could recite,

NTSB reports from coast to cast just about, where this

type of training has paid off.  But it's not a

requirement.  So I would have to believe that there

are airports out there that a training officer does

walk out on the ramp and say, "Well, these are

aircraft.  And you have to be familiar with them." 

But there are no guidelines on what they have to be

familiar with.

            MS. GITTENS:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, if I may?

            My question was:  Had your organization

done any kind of analysis as to the state of ARFF

training at the various airports?

            CAPTAIN STEWART:  We have and we haven't. 

We were looking at state-certified aircraft rescue and

firefighting training programs.  We solicited all 50

states and found that only 14 currently have a

state-certified program.

            That is why as one of our projects we are

trying to develop and are probably about 85 percent

accomplished in developing an aircraft rescue and

firefighting certification training program.

            Of those 14 states, only 6 are accredited

by the National Board of Professional Fire

Qualifications.  That's a sad state of affairs, I must

admit, on behalf of the aircraft rescue community, but

we are trying to alleviate that problem.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Ms. Barker?

            MS. BARKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

            I'd like to direct my question to Ms.

Daniels.  Has there been opposition within the

industry to go ahead with the electronic recordkeeping

systems or is there a reason for this to take so long?

            And if I could just make a little

editorial and then ask you to follow up?  We did visit

an air frame shop when we were in Seattle.  It was an

incredibly well-run operation, but what kind of

astonished all of us was the amount of paperwork and

rooms just full and all of the various mechanics in

their own little scribbly handwriting putting things

in different compartments.

            Is there anything we as a Commission or

whatever can do to facilitate?  I mean, maybe in this

day and age, most things have gone electronically.  I

just want to know if there's some down side.  It seems

so logical to moving ahead.

            Could you respond to that?

            MS. DANIELS:  Well, I know of no known

industry opposition to adopting a regulation.  I

believe it's just been the failure of the ARAC to be

able to get the recommendation moved into the NPRM,

very simply that.

            MS. BARKER:  Translate that for me.

            MS. DANIELS:  The ARAC is the Aviation

Rules Advisory Committee.  And the NPRM is the

proposed rulemaking process.

            MS. BARKER:  And you testified that your

company works mainly for general aviation, but there

are only limited amounts of electronic recordkeeping

in the commercial and other --

            MS. DANIELS:  It is a problem that occurs

throughout the industry.  One of the things that has

happened which I did mention is that the FAA has by

exception allowed the carriers to use electronic

recordkeeping, but they have had to apply

individually.  And the FAA has had to go through an

individual certification process for each one of

those.  So there is no consistency among them, no

standardization.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  How pervasive is that,

can I ask?  How many of those sorts of programs are

there?

            MS. DANIELS:  I can't answer in any

qualified way.  I do know a number of them have done

so, certainly the majors, I think.

            MS. BARKER:  I guess to follow up of that,

it would be one point I would like us as a Commission

to follow up in recommendations.  It seems so logical,

and there's so much room for human error when you have

handwritten recordkeeping.  I guess there's room for

human error in electronic, too, but hopefully it could

be caught up better.  I would like to see maybe a

further look at this issue.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Let me follow up

and just ask from your perspective why the FAA has not

moved forward with the NPRM.

            MS. DANIELS:  Priorities perhaps?  I'm

really not sure.  I do know we have a member that sits

on this specific ARAC.  And I think it got bogged down

in the legal analysis of the wording.  These

committees are long, involved, very, very detailed,

perhaps overly so, processes.

            And I have also heard criticism from

members of the committee that the FAA is not guiding

the committee as well as it could perhaps in helping

the committee issue their report, which will be

acceptable in the long run.  Instead, they end up

nitpicking it when it comes up.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Ms. O'Cleireacain

and then Ms. Hanke.

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Mr. Stewart, we're

trying to look at risk assessment in our safety

issues.  We had some discussion this morning, and I

think we're all pretty much convinced that while you'd

like to bring accidents down to zero level, that human

beings aren't like that and neither are machines.  It

seems to me that you offer us is a different way of

looking at the risk and that we should take some time

to look at lowering the risk of a fatality in an

accident or an incident situation.

            I was wondering if you had any data that

you could provide us with, even something that rises

above anecdotal.  It doesn't have to be thorough.  It

doesn't have to be a complete national study.  But if

you could show us examples of accidents where

well-trained firefighters, well-trained -- we have a

flight attendant on our Commission.  It's the same

sort of thing that we'll be discussing with her, ways

in which training of evacuation and accident personnel

really save lives.  That would be incredibly helpful

to us if you could do that.

            CAPTAIN STEWART:  I can reiterate two

instances if you would like or I could provide you

with --

            MS. O'CLEIREACAIN:  Say them now, but

whatever you could provide us with in writing would be

very, very helpful.

            CAPTAIN STEWART:  Off the top of my head,

and I believe it was 1989 up in Detroit.  It was a

runway incursion between a 727 and a DC-9 due to

low-visibility conditions.

            The fire department responded initially to

the 727, which is at the opposite end of the runway of

the DC-9.  Upon arrival, they had I believe a

three-dimensional flowing fuel fire, maybe no fire at

all but flowing fuel out the wing tip.

            That aircraft was successfully evacuated. 

The reason that aircraft lost a wing tip was that the

727 on-take off-roll struck the DC-9 in the left

window and basically tore a slice through the entire

aircraft and on out and continued to roll off the end

of the runway, which left the DC-9 without radio

communications.

            It took an ATC due to the weather

conditions a few seconds to realize that there was a

runway incursion.  Upon arrival to the DC-9, the fire

department because they were not familiar with that

aircraft failed to utilize all the emergency exits. 

And the emergency exit that they failed to utilize

happened to be on that aircraft what is called a tail

cone jettison.  The tail cone of the aircraft is

actually and can be released from either inside or

outside the aircraft.

            Upon the NTSB investigation, they found on

that tail cone that the flight attendant had and was

properly trained and the fact that she went through

the aft bulkhead door to the tail cone handle, pulled

it, and the handle actually broke off in her hand.

            If the fire department, in turn, would

have responded and utilized the handle on the outside

of the aircraft, there may have been a possibility if

the system had functioned properly that the tail cone

would have fallen off.

            There was a flight attendant as well as a

passenger who died in that area of the aircraft.  Had

the fire department been properly trained on that type

aircraft and utilized that external release, there's

a possibility that they may have been able to get out

or that they may have been rescued.

            One example on the flip side with flight

attendant training was an aircraft incident in, I

believe it was, LaGuardia, New York, where one

aircraft went off the end of the runway in snow

conditions.

            The final attitude of the aircraft ended

up with nose down into the water.  Because -- and this

was stated in the NTSB report.  Because of the flight

attendant training, the passengers basically took it

upon themselves to evacuate the aircraft, doing so by

opening exit doors.

            Fire department responded.  Upon initial

response, one firefighter left his vehicle with a

ladder made access to the forward service door, made

access into the cockpit, and shut down the aircraft

because he was properly trained in how to do so.

            The flight data recorder revealed that the

pilots, although they were alert, were in the process

of arguing about why the airplane crashed and we're

not going through the evacuation procedures and the

emergency shutdown procedures.

            The flight attendants, in turn, performed

in the way that they were trained.  And they were

trained in the way that we sit around, and we're going

to talk about what we're going to do.  But we're not

going to actually physically get up and do it.  And

that's how they reacted.

            So the passengers took it upon themselves

to evacuate the aircraft.  And that pretty much is how

it ended up.  That's two off the top of my head, and

I can try to research some more as well.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Ms. Hanke?

            MS. HANKE:  Mr. Stewart, as a flight

attendant, I sincerely appreciate the efforts that

your group does in assisting us in the evacuation

process.  And you've just highlighted two particular

circumstances where improved training would have

indeed perhaps saved lives on board that aircraft in

the accident.

            You state here in your written paper that

you have requested the FAA to act on this and that

they had responded by saying that they have no plans

of rewriting or clarifying any part of it.

            And in that response to you, did they give

you any reason for not doing this?

            CAPTAIN STEWART:  Well, at our annual

conference here last August, they took the floor and

did a presentation about Part 139 and in a round-about

way kind of threw it back at the ARFF community, "Is

this something you really want us to rewrite?"  It was

almost not so much a threat, I guess, but it was

throwing a little leverage in there in the fact that

they could make the standards a lot tougher.

            What's ironic is that we, the ARFF

community, want the standards to be much tougher, not

per se much tougher, but just much more specific so

that we know without a shadow of a doubt what we're

supposed to train in.

            MS. HANKE:  Is there anything in the

requirements that instructs you to initiate

evacuations perhaps in the event a flight attendant

were incapacitated?  I'm curious to know what might be

in these regulations because I'm not specifically

familiar with them.

            CAPTAIN STEWART:  Well, in Part 139 as

part of the training curriculum, it says "Emergency

aircraft evacuation assistance," period.

            MS. HANKE:  I have no further questions. 

Thank you.

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  I think you set

a record today.  Two.

            Any other questions from the Commission?

            (No response.)

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  Let me thank the

three of you again.  It looks like a couple of you, at

least, have traveled a long way, and we appreciate

that.  Again, we hope to have this report completed

within the next month.  And we again appreciate your

input.

            Before you all head off to the airports or

your places here, our next meeting is the 30th and the

31st.  I raise the question of whether on the 31st we

ought to try and have only a half-day and to see if we

could get through on the 30th and the 31st.  But does

anybody -- do we need the full day on the 31st?  Is

that okay or --

            MR. LEXTON:  What is the continuing

agenda?

            ACTING CHAIRMAN KAPLAN:  The continuing

agenda is to look at on one of the days the comments

from the administration on the draft report we have

submitted to he Secretary and on the second day to try

and finalize as best we can the safety report.

            So we may not need another meeting after

that.  If we do, it would be on the 12th of November.

            (Whereupon, the foregoing matter was

            concluded at 4:09 p.m.)

_

